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OUR 
HIGHLIGHTS

19,235 651 173
Homes owned or 
managed (2019: 18,721)

Affordable homes built 
(2019: 621)

Shared Ownership sales 
(2019: 190)

G1 V1 A+
Regulator of Social 
Housing governance 
rating

Regulator of Social 
Housing viability rating

Standard & Poor’s rating

£27m £79m100%
Invested in maintaining 
and improving our existing 
homes (2019: £26m)

Invested in new homes 
(2019: £119m)

homes have met Decent 
Homes Standard since 
2010 (2019: 100%)

£60m 41% 144%
Operating surplus  
(2019: £68m)

Operating margin on 
core operating business
(2019: 42%)

EBITDA MRI (% of interest 
payable and similar 
charges) (2019: 156%)

(negative)
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CHAIR’S 
STATEMENT

One of my priorities is ensuring we continue to provide 
the level of customer service I would expect to receive 
from others – high-quality, value for money and timely. 
And I want us to do what we say we are going to do, 
with service to tenants and customers at the core as  
a priority.

bpha performed well in 2019/20 delivering a sound 
financial performance with an excellent service record. 
I was also delighted that in October, bpha’s governance 
arrangements and oversight were recognised with 
the re-award of the highest available governance and 
viability ratings, G1 and V1, by the Regulator of Social 
Housing following their In Depth Assessment (IDA)  
of us earlier in the year. 

Whilst the IDA is a routine part of the regulatory process, 
and this is bpha’s second one, it is always pleasing to 
have confirmation from the Regulator that we continue 
to meet the required standards. It gives me added 
assurance that all parts of the organisation are working 
together with common purpose. In this context I would 
like to thank my Board colleagues, the Executive and 
Senior Management Teams, and everyone else who 
works at bpha and in our partner organisations for the 

valuable contributions they have made in achieving our 
excellent overall performance. 

During this year we were sorry to see the departure  
of two of our non-executive Board members; Shan Hunt 
who stepped down after 9 years and Jill Ainscough 
who completed her 3 year term during which time 
she Chaired our Remunerations and Nominations 
Committee. I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
Shan and Jill for their valuable contributions to bpha 
and the Board and for their hard work and commitment 
over the years. 

We are delighted that Shirley Pointer, Geraldine O’Sullivan 
and Bob Tattar have joined the Board this year. They 
bring with them public and private sector experience and 
particular skills in HR, Board governance and property 
development. These are skills that are important as the 
Board supports the development and delivery of the 
organisation’s new 2025-30 Corporate Strategy. 

The Board approved the new 2025-30 Corporate 
Strategy in September. This outlines how we as an 
organisation are committed to:

I continue to feel immensely privileged to serve as  
the Chair of bpha with our focus on engaging with  
our tenants and customers, maintaining our stock  
of affordable homes in good condition, helping to 
establish vibrant communities, creating as many  
new homes as possible, whilst doing all we can to  
protect and improve the environment.

•  providing more seamless access to a wider range  
of services to support those who need them most, through 
working closely with Social Care and Health Services, 
recognising that the quality of a person’s home is  
a key determinant of their overall quality of life

•  empowering and supporting our members of staff who 
interact the most with tenants and customers including 
through the provision of streamlined central services 
and systems

•  developing interactive systems and services, that will 
enable controlled sharing of data with partners and  
the secure tracking of all service delivery actions

•  developing as many affordable homes as possible to 
meet defined market needs within the Ox Cam Arc. 
We will seek to work with others to increase efficiency 
whilst sharing risks and resources. Priority will be given 
to working at the community level to ensure that local 
housing needs are met alongside the requirements for 
community amenities to create places where people 
can thrive

•  working to a set of clear environmental principles to 
reduce bpha’s carbon footprint and those of tenants, 
residents and partners, to protect and enhance the 
natural environment and provide access to green 
space for the benefit of people’s health and wellbeing

•  exploring how best to work with others to achieve our 
overall goals and ambitions and establish relationships 
in respect of the opportunities identified

I am convinced that there is even more that we can do 
to be as efficient and effective as possible to enable us 
to invest more in our existing properties and new ones. 
We continue to invest in people and systems to improve 
our services and efficiency. We are also adjusting to and 
coping with the restrictions and challenges that Covid-
19 has and will place upon bpha and the services we 
provide but also the potential opportunities. I also want 
to recognise though, the personal heartache and loss 
that many will suffer because of the virus. 

Dr Paul Leinster CBE 
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As a long-term business, it is important that in each 
twelve-month period we maintain our focus on the needs  
of our customers, tenants and residents whilst we continue 
to invest for the organisation’s future. Keeping these 
two defining goals in balance through transparent and 
efficient governance processes continues to be the key 
to bpha’s ongoing success and the Chair covers this  
in his statement.

Our Customers, Tenants and Residents
Meeting the needs of our customers has been at the 
heart of everything we have done in 2019/20. Ensuring 
that homes are safe, well maintained and repaired when 
needed requires constant investment and we believe we 
have continued to do this well. However, our view can 
be a technical one so over the last 12 months we have 
started a new programme of work to ensure we judge 
this crucial element of our performance through the 
eyes of the people we are here to serve. To this end,  
The Director of Customers and Services has started  
a new initiative that will, over the next 12 months or  
so, see every member of the bpha team being trained 
to see the impact of our services through the eyes of 
‘the customer’. We want people to understand what 
can make our actions ‘magic’ and what would make 

them ‘tragic’ in order to help us to be truly in step with 
our customers’, tenants’ and residents’ needs and 
perspectives. 

This work is being augmented with a series of consultation 
activities through our Viewpoint portal, the establishment  
of a refreshed team of engaged residents, improvements 
to our complaints processes, improved operational systems  
and a multi-channel communications programme. 
Bringing all these activities together will help us move 
our culture to one where we see the world through our 
customers eyes and respond accordingly. This shift will 
move our perspective from thinking ‘about customers’  
to thinking ‘like a customer’. 

Looking after people’s homes is crucial but so is the 
ability to offer a helping hand when the going gets 
tough. In 2019/20 we helped our customers maintain 
their tenancies in a range of ways from basic money 
management advice through to supporting people 
moving onto Universal Credit and ensuring people were 
effectively signposted to specialist help. As a result, we 
saw evictions fall from 70 to 47.

During the year, despite 320 more tenants moving on to 
universal credit, bringing the total to 3,615, we maintained 
our arrears performance at 1.9%. When people’s homes 
are your business, looking to raise your overall standards 
of service also makes sound commercial sense.

Financial Overview
Our Core Operating Business, which is primarily social 
lettings, maintained a strong operating surplus of £42m 
which was ahead of last year, and comfortably covers 
our net interest costs to fund the whole Group. We used 
our increased core operating turnover to invest in the 
operational capability of the business which will enable us 
to maintain our growth and overall efficiency.

Our sales and development business put in a creditable 
performance to generate a surplus of £18m despite  
a slowdown in sales activity. The prevailing economic 
uncertainty throughout the year reduced unit sales and 
our sales surplus fell by £5m.

Investing for the Future
In 2019/20 bpha developed 651 new properties, equating 
to 3.8% of its stock holding at the start of the year. This 
continues the organisation’s commitment to building  
as many new affordable homes as it can within its area 
of operation, the strategically important Government 
designated growth area of the Ox Cam Arc. The new 
properties ranged from new ExtraCare facilities in 
Bedford, Cambridge and St Albans through to 1, 2, 3  
and 4 bedroom homes in places such as Northstowe  
in Cambridgeshire. 

In the last quarter of the year bpha raised a further £125m 
through a Private Placement to support the delivery of its 
ongoing development pipeline. With 1,282 new properties 

delivered in the last two years, the organisation remains 
on target to deliver 3,000 new homes over the 5 year 
period to March 2023. This financing activity was led by 
Julian Pearce, bpha’s new Chief Financial Officer who 
joined us in October and was recruited to strengthen 
bpha’s leadership team. 

The organisation’s investments are not just in new 
homes. As bpha grows, investment continues in new 
systems to ensure that we have a modern, scalable 
and efficient operational infrastructure. A new finance 
system (SunSytems) was commissioned in July, the 
development of our Customer Relationship Management 
(CRM) system is being aligned to our customer service 
initiatives, mobile working technologies are being used as 
a matter of course by more people to create efficiency 
and flexibility and our new compliance system, Asprey, is 
allowing us to manage and maintain our property safety 
and compliance information.

Bring it all Together 
In describing just some of the outcomes of 2019/20  
I hope I have demonstrated that another very good year 
for the organisation is as much about the future as it is 
the here and now. Everything we do has to be part of the 
bigger picture that protects the interests of our customers, 
residents and tenants now, whilst ensuring we are 
working towards meeting the longer-term expectations 
of our investors, our regulator, our wider stakeholder 
universe and, most importantly, ourselves.

Our continued success is very much based on being 
more than the ‘sum of our parts’. The decisive factor in 
this is bpha’s employee base and how we work together 
to achieve everything that we do. As people we aspire 
to be ‘restless to improve’ and this, working with good 
governance processes, systems and management 
standards, is enabling the organisation to keep moving 
forward. I want to thank every member of the bpha 
team and the many people that we work with for your 
hard work and support in 2019/20.

Covid-19
The Covid-19 outbreak started to impact the organisation 
in February 2020. The organisation’s response to this 
unprecedented challenge was first class. bpha adopted  
a fully-dispersed operational delivery model from  
23 March 2020.

Whilst the overall organisational impact of the Covid-19 
epidemic will be reviewed in bpha’s 2020/21 Annual 
Report, the organisation goes into the crisis period in  
a good position financially, culturally and from a system 
support perspective. The potential impact of the crisis on 
bpha’s employees, customers and suppliers is very high 
and our thoughts, best wishes and condolences go to 
everyone who experienced a personal loss.

Kevin Bolt 
Chief Executive Officer

CEO’S 
STATEMENT
Reflecting back to the 
start of the 2019/20 year, 
it is clear to me that it is 
not the fact that bpha has 
had a very good year that 
is important but how this 
has been achieved.
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COVID-19 
RESPONSE

When it became clear in March 2020 that the 
pandemic would lead to lockdown in the UK, 
affecting our customers, tenants and residents  
in significant and different ways, we were  
well-prepared.  

Robust business continuity planning has always been 
integral to our management of bpha, with ongoing stress 
testing of our organisation’s ability to operate in different 
scenarios. We have been fortunate in having modelled  
a pandemic as a scenario in 2019 and therefore all requisite 
processes were in place and tested for this real-life situation. 

We were able to adapt our operation rapidly and our 
focus was on those customers with greatest need. Due 
to our previous investment we were able to maintain 
core services without a break.

With operations secured, focus turned to recovery 
planning with twice weekly strategic group meetings 
chaired by Kevin Bolt, Chief Executive Officer, with  
key personnel assessing latest government and  
industry guidance. 

Whilst early indications are that our Core Operating 
Business is resilient and stable; the Covid-19 pandemic 
will have a major impact on our sales and development 
business. The building and delivery of new homes will be 
subject to delay and there will be ongoing restrictions 
on sales activity. The current uncertainties will also affect 
consumer confidence and we are currently appraising our 
forward development strategy in the light of a potential 
property downturn. 

The full impact of the pandemic on bpha’s operations will 
be evaluated and published in our report for 2020/21. 

Covid-19 Business Continuity Plan 
Board Level Oversight

 
Step 1
Assess the Circumstance

Twice weekly Strategic Group 
meetings established which are 
chaired by the CEO, comprises 
executive management, including 
the leader responsible for the 
Tactical Group. Government and 
industry guidance considered and 
assessments made on direction 
to give to the tactical teams. CEO 
provides regular reports to Board 
summarising challenges and 
mitigating actions undertaken.

Step 2
Mitigating Actions

Head of Retirement Living leads 
the Tactical Group which follows 
each Strategic Group meeting 
to implement operational 
decisions and mitigating actions 
(e.g. furlough, PPE, customer 
interaction) – feedback loop into 
each strategic group meeting  
to review outcomes.
 

Step 3
Feedback

First Emergency Board Meeting 
convened on 9th April to review 
management response and 
actions including financial 
reforecasts. Subsequent 
emergency Board meetings 
arranged on a regular basis 
during the pandemic.  
 

Feedback Loop 
CEO’s regular reports presented to the Board

9

bpha NHS accommodation in Milton Keynes
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bpha STRATEGY
As a long-term business, it is vital to look to the 
future and set your sights on what will be needed 
in 5 to 10 years to ensure you stay true to your 
purpose and values in an ever-changing world.  

In September 2019, the Board approved its Corporate 
Strategy. This far sighted document imagines the 
affordable housing and community needs of the future 
in order to set out a vision for the organisation’s services 
and the way in which they will be delivered. Whilst the 
organisation’s intrinsic purpose will not change, the 
corporate strategy calls for a step-change in performance 
based on five core principles:

1.  The Customer - it is all about the customer/tenant/
resident and how best we can fulfil their needs.

2.  Value for Money – an efficient organisation that works 
as close to its customers as possible from a lean, central 
operational ‘hub’. This will be enabled by excellent 
systems to support operations, ensuring that data is 
collected, maintained, shared and governed to make 
it readily available to enhance day to day as well as 
longer term strategic decisions.

3.  Systems Thinking – affordable housing is one element 
of supporting people within communities to live 
productive, safe and fulfilled lives. By bringing housing 
together with other core services such as health 
(primary and public) and social care at a community 
level, the customer will benefit from easy access to 
joined up services as and when they are needed.  

4.  Lifetime Costs – when planning investments, the full 
lifetime cost will be considered to prevent short-term 
decision-making creating higher than necessary costs 
over the longer term.

5.  Sustainability – that we understand the impact of our 
actions on the environment and work systematically 
to minimise waste and to protect natural resources, 
open spaces, habitats and the indigenous plants and 
animals that live there.   

Our Values
Our values, in tandem with our mission and vision, are long 
established and stay the same as we plan for the future. 

Customers First 
We listen to our customers and put them  
at the heart of everything we do

Right First Time 
We strive to get things right first time  
and to keep getting better

As Good as our Word 
We act with integrity; we do the right thing,  
and deliver what we say we will

Open and Informative
We respect our employees and customers  
by sharing information and communicating  
in an open and easy to understand manner

Effective Relationships 
We know we achieve more by working  
effectively with others

Pride and Ownership
We are proud of the work we do and always 
take responsibility for our actions

1 1

Bedford embankment

OUR VISION 
To build communities 
where people can live 
happily in a home they 
can afford.

OUR MISSION
To build and maintain 
quality homes and thriving 
communities by being 
increasingly efficient and 
always considering the 
needs of those we house.
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Ox Cam Arc
bpha is located geographically in the heart of the now 
well-established Oxford to Cambridge Arc (Ox Cam Arc). 
This area is predicted to require up to 1m new homes 
by 2050 on existing projected growth. This growth 
will be supported with investments to the transport 
infrastructure with major new road and rail connections 
being established by 2030. Whilst Oxford and Cambridge 
are 66 miles apart, it currently takes around two and 
half hours to travel between them. This time could be 
potentially halved. 

Currently Housing Associations own and manage 
close to 200k homes within the Ox Cam Arc and build 
around 5k new affordable homes per annum. These 
organisations are estimated to add c.£650m Gross 
Value Added to the region’s economy and support 
approximately 10,000 jobs. 

With new industries being attracted into the area the 
population will continue to grow. Current towns will 
grow, and potentially new settlements will be created. 
Affordable housing supply, to meet a wide range of 
needs and life stages will be crucial to the achievement 
of the Ox Cam Arc vision. bpha’s Corporate Strategy has 
been framed to maximise the organisations’ contribution 
to the powerful and exciting local agenda. As a large 
local organisation we are ideally positioned to provide 
new affordable homes, support the establishment of 
new communities and help bring together the services 
that people need to live their lives to the full, whatever 
their circumstances.

In working to deliver within these four goals’ areas,  
bpha will:  

•  put the Health and Safety of its customers and 
employees ahead of all other considerations 

•  keep its customers at the centre of its goals and decisions 
ensuring that the voice of the tenant and resident is 
listened to, respected and taken into full account

•  maintain regulatory compliance and the highest 
standards of governance

•  work within its agreed risk appetite 
•  achieve ‘Value for Money’ in the way that it delivers  

its services 
•  work in a sustainable manner with due regard to protect 

and enhance the natural environment within its area  
of operation

•  wherever practicable, work with partners to bring scale 
efficiencies, to accelerate learning, to share risks and 
grasp opportunities which the organisation could not 
access on its own

•  work to promote the diversity of its workforce, embracing 
the skills, cultural understanding and openness of 
thoughts and ideas that arise from an environment 
where everyone’s contribution is encouraged and valued 
irrespective of their background, beliefs and outlook

•  ensure the promotion of bpha’s values through the 
organisation’s decision processes and the development 
of its customer services and employee working practices

bpha’s new Corporate Strategy is supported with 
enabling ‘sub-strategies’ that will drive the shorter term 
implementation goals. One of these is the organisation’s 
new Environment Strategy, details of which are set out on 
the next two pages.

Customer Experience 
Develop, test and implement a system-based 
customer service delivery model that seeks to bring 
together the public services that people need within 
their community. This approach aims to get housing, 
health, and social care services (and others) working 
more closely together to provide seamless service 
delivery whilst maximising the use of local budgets.  

High Quality Homes
Maintain our current homes in a pro-active 
manner to ensure they are good to live in, safe, 
energy efficient and financially viable. In line with 
this goal, and mindful of future legislation, bpha 
will be developing its own ‘Decent Homes Plus’ 
standard which it will work to implement through 
its void and cyclical repairs programmes as well 
as through specific investments in older stock such 
as its 14 1950/60s high rise blocks in Bedford. This 
will include common spaces and the areas owned 
outside of the buildings. 

More Affordable Homes 
Build as many new affordable homes as the 
organisation can afford to meet specific customer 
needs within its designated area of operation 
within the heart of the Ox Cam Arc.

    Shaping the Future
    Establish the organisation as a principal 
 local Housing Association within the Ox 
Cam Arc. The organisation will be able to deliver 
the aims set out in its Corporate Strategy through 
developing its reputation and brand for excellent 
customer service, high operational standards and 
development quality. 

bpha Strategic Aims

Bedford

Luton

Cambridge

Milton Keynes

Aylesbury

Oxford

Peterborough

Homes

1,000+

500-1,000

200-500

100-200

50-100

1-50
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ENVIRONMENTAL 
STRATEGY

In order to achieve the sustainability goals of our new 
2025–30 Corporate Strategy, we have developed an 
aligned Environmental Strategy that sets out to ensure 
that the organisation:

•  reduces the carbon footprint of its operations: We 
have established our current carbon footprint and will 
ensure that our activities reduce energy consumption 
and minimise CO2 emissions 

•  supports tenants and residents to reduce energy 
consumption: We will support residents to reduce 
consumption of fuel whilst enabling them to remain 
safe and warm. This will be done through improvement 
works and promotion campaigns  

•  uses low life cycle impact products where possible:  
We will work to measure and, where we can, reduce 
the life cycle impacts of the components in our homes 
to reduce the need for maintenance and replacement

•  reduces waste: We will encourage and participate in 
recycling activities to maximise the volume of recycled 
materials. Initiatives will be business and tenant/
customer focused  

•  optimises the use of green space: We will encourage 
a range of planting activities from growing food to 
increasing biodiversity across our sites 

•  manages water efficiently: We will seek to reduce 
our water consumption and encourage tenants and 
residents to do the same and will install specialist  
water saving equipment 

•  adapts to its changing environment: We will work to 
ensure that our properties are as resilient as possible  
to the effects of climate change. This means looking 
at how to keep properties cool in the summer, warm  
in the winter and as safe from the impact of flooding 
as possible 

To support and guide this initiative, bpha is working with 
SUSS Housing and has adopted its SHIFT Environmental 
Sustainability model. This methodology, which has been 
adopted by more than 40 other Housing Associations, 
provides the organisation with a measure of its current 
environmental footprint and a framework for targeting 
improvement measures over time. Their initial report  
presented us with a summary of our current sustainability 
performance across our business premises and operations, 
and new and existing homes. In conclusion, bpha was 
awarded the SHIFT Silver standard. 
 
Having established our baseline for development, in 
addition to the aims stated above bpha has committed to:

•  achieve SHIFT Gold in 2021 and retain 
this rating in subsequent years

•  secure ISO 14001 registration  
by 2023

•  work towards achieving the SHIFT 
Platinum Standard by 2030

Over the coming year bpha will work to publish a set  
of medium and longer-term goals. These, along with  
an action plan, have been developed in draft in line with 
this strategy but need further research and independent 
validation. However, for the first time, bpha is able to detail  
its current environmental footprint, the base line for what  
will be an exciting and rewarding improvement programme. 

bpha is committed to the long-term reduction  
of its carbon footprint, adapting to accommodate 
environmental changes and the promotion of a net 
gain in biodiversity. 

Key
 SHIFT Average
 bpha Performance
 Top Performer

70.3

73.3

75.9

Average SAP: 
73.3

52,814 
tonnes
Current homes

585 
tonnes
Maintenance  
operations

206 
tonnes
Offices

173 
tonnes
Business mileage

53,778 
tonnes
Overall total

Carbon footprint per annum

16
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49%

37%

7%

6%

1%

67%

15%

7%

7%

4%

10%

23%

21%

17%

11%

6%

8%

4%

64%

35%

1%

75%

21%

4%

AT A GLANCE 
We provide homes for a diverse range of customers 
to suit their individual needs. We deliver this through 
developing and maintaining a wide range of property 
types, available through a variety of tenures. 

Homes by Usage
The majority of our homes are modern,  
general needs housing. 

 General Needs 67%
 Shared Ownership  15%
 Care Homes  7%
 Other  7%
 HomeBuy  4%

Homes by Type
We offer a range of dwelling types,  
with the majority being family homes

 House  49%
 Flat  37%
 Care Home  7%
 Bungalow  6%
 Other  1%

Age Profile of Homes
54% of our homes are under  
20 years old

 0–10  35%
 11–20  19%
 21–40  12%
 41–60  18%
 61+  16%

Age Profile of Tenants
58% of our tenants are below the  
age of 50, a younger age profile  
than is typical across the sector.

 <25  4%
 25–30  10%
 31–40  23%
 41–50  21%
 51–60   17%
 61–70      11%
 71–80   6%
 >80   8%

Analysis of Turnover
Social housing lettings activity  
is the core component of our  
business, representing 75%  
of our total turnover.

  Social housing lettings income 75%
  Other social housing activities 21%
  Non-social housing activities 4%

Core Development Activities
Our development programme  
continues to be focused on  
core affordable housing for  
rent or Shared Ownership.

  Social and Affordable Rent 64%
  Shared Ownership 35%
  Private/Commercial  1%

35%

19%

12%

18%

16%
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CUSTOMERS 
AND SERVICES
Customers and the Communities they live in are at  
the heart of our work. From developing new homes,  
to improving our current stock, from moving people 
into houses, to ensuring they get the help and support 
they need to maintain their tenancies. 

Our aim is to ensure that our services are there to help 
our customers to live happily in their homes. Throughout 
2019/20 we have been focused on how the services we 
provide can continue to develop and improve to meet the 
changing needs of our customers, tenants and residents. 
We appreciate that every customer is an individual and 
our services need to reflect their diverse needs.  

Our new Customer Strategy has been developed over 
the year to align with the goals of the organisation’s 
new Corporate Strategy. It is about providing the ‘right 
service at the right time’ to support the independence  
of those living in the homes we provide, or in receipt  
of our services. It takes on the key strands from the 
wider business strategy and defines how we will ensure 
that our services;

• improve the customers’ experience of bpha 
•  support and enable independent living through 

knowing our customers and creating a service model 
to meet their needs, based on our understanding  
of the different housing paths they may follow

•  promote community cohesion and wider partnership 
working to provide seamless services that bring 
together the resources people need at the right time 

Customer experience
Through listening to a diverse range of customer 
feedback and a desire to take our service standards 
onto a higher level, in 2019 we embarked on a new 
programme of work which will ultimately transform  
the culture of the organisation. We recognised that  
as a service business we ‘think about’ our customers  
but to achieve the goals we are setting ourselves, we 
need to operate on the basis that we ‘think like’ our 
customers. We are making the move from what can 
sometimes be a paternalistic approach to one very 
much about enablement and independence.

Our initial action was to seek external help to take  
a hard look at ourselves and identify our strengths and 
weaknesses and their impact on tenants and resident’s 
daily life.

Following the feedback from this, we undertook an 
internal programme of work around the experience our 
customers have of bpha, starting with initial workshops 
involving employees from all parts of the business. We 
considered our services from a customer perspective, 
thinking beyond just ‘delivering a service’ and looking 
at how we can really support our customers and ‘get it 

right’. Using these workshops to identify the ‘tragics’ and 
then develop the ‘magics’, our first pilot study reviewed 
the development of new build properties for Shared 
Ownership and Rent and how the processes of buying 
or letting could be improved.

Several actions were identified that would benefit  
both our customers and bpha’s operational processes. 
Top of these was the flow of communication during  
the sales and after sales process. The outcome being 
that the teams involved worked together to create  
a roadmap to enable a seamless transition from one 
stage of the process to the next. Written down this 
outcome sounds obvious and simple. However, the 
process enabled everyone involved to see things from 
different perspectives, allowing us to overcome some 
internal challenges and ensure that the new process  
was focused on the outcome for the customer. 

Following the initial success of this fast, effective 
improvement tool, it is now being rolled out to other areas 
of the organisation. Through challenging our processes, 
perceptions and current beliefs in this way we believe we 
will be able to build the foundations for a service delivery 
‘cultural revolution’ within bpha over the coming months 
and years.

Focus on digital
We are continuing to invest heavily in technology to 
transition the management of our services towards more 
interactive digital channels, to meet customer expectations 
and create improved organisational efficiency. We aim to 
have 60% of all customer transactions handled digitally by 
2025. Through this improved online activity our frontline 
teams will be freed up to increase human intervention for 
those who are the most in need. Essential to the success 
of this approach is our new Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system which will help us tailor  
our services more efficiently and effectively. It will 
give the business and our customers a shared view 
of our relationship and link all aspects of this into one 
place be it rent, repairs, Antisocial Behaviour (ASB) or 
complaints. The CRM is being built in house to give us 
‘complete flexibility’ over content and processes. 2019 
was essentially about getting the core data into the 
system and agreeing which processes come first. In 
addition, we completed the automation of our Garage 
Management process which was launched successfully 
in June 2019. This is now running effectively with ongoing 
improvements being made based on customer and 
employee feedback.

19
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Financial Fitness
We have always believed in investing in our Money 
Advice service and 2019 has again evidenced the benefits 
of doing so with the team working across all elements 
of our business from general needs housing, to shared 
ownership and housing with care. Examples of the 
successful work carried out are: 

•  working closely with our allocations team to ensure 
that new customers are effectively equipped to 
manage their tenancies and that properties are 
affordable to them

•  support any current tenant or resident with financial 
issues, with over 1500 referrals received

•  working closely with extra care residents in Oxford  
to boost their entitlements

•  devising the ‘Step Back In’ scheme with Bedford 
Borough Council to help people back in to employment

•  supporting families to access food bank vouchers
•  creating the Tenant Welfare Fund to allow people  

to purchase essential goods
•  enabling bpha customers to access a credit union 

account, helping them to manage their income  
and savings

Our Supported Housing Services 
In the final months of the year a review was undertaken 
of our Supported Housing Services to assess the best way 
to give tenants an improved service and to futureproof 
them. One outcome was the recognition that many  
of the challenges faced by those living in the community 
are also very real for many in general needs housing. 
Changes will be made in the summer with the result that 
our tenancy sustainment service will widen it’s reach  
and tenants will be more integrated into the general 
housing community. 

Tackling Domestic Abuse
In recognition of the growing scale of Domestic Abuse 
across the UK and the role housing associations play in 
supporting survivors or those at risk, bpha have linked 
in with the Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) to 
undertake the DAHA Accreditation. Being part of DAHA 
gives us access to expert support and knowledge from 
across the housing sector and an opportunity to rethink 
our approach where necessary. Involving colleagues from 
across the business we are working towards achieving 
the accreditation over the coming year, reviewing our 
policies, procedures, information and services to ensure 
we are supporting residents living with these issues as 
comprehensively as possible.

Our Carelink Service – 24-hour Emergency  
Support in Your Home
This service gives bpha a prime opportunity to further 
develop our presence in the community and enhance 
the lives of people who may be isolated or might need 
that extra bit of support, to enable them to remain 
in their home. A restructure of the way the service is 
provided was completed in 2019 enabling 2020 to be 
about developing enhancements to expand our current 
offering, commencing with a rebrand to promote what  
it is the service offers. 

The peace of mind and wellbeing of our customers is 
a priority and Carelink is a valuable part of the offer 
to Bedford based residents. We operate across our 
Retirement Living services, general needs housing and 
private homes as well as fulfilling contracts for other local 
housing and care providers. At the most basic level each 
customer has an emergency pendant and/or pullcord 
that enables them to ‘call’ for emergency support if 
required, for example, if they fall and need assistance.

However, Carelink is different to many other ‘emergency 
response services’ in that it is delivered by our Visiting 
Support Team who are available to respond to enquiries 
in person 24 hours a day not just through a digital system. 
Their key role is to triage the intervention required by the 
customer, for example calling the emergency services 
and being with someone to offer support throughout.

This is reassuring not only for residents, but their family 
and friends, who may not live close by and are unable  
to offer that support in person.

Number of Carelink users.

1,124 
in bpha 
schemes 

445
in the community 
and other  
HA schemes

Our services
Our primary purpose as a landlord is to supply homes, 
but at bpha we pride ourselves on the additional services 
we provide that support those living in these properties. 
The ways in which we interact with each individual 
customer differs, from low level annual surveys to the 
tenancy sustainment services without which some tenants 
would fail to live independently and would be in danger  
of losing their homes. 

Throughout 2019 our customer facing teams have been 
working hard to reach all those tenants/residents in need 
of some additional support to look at ways to improve 
our offering.

Sustaining Tenancies 
We work with some of the most vulnerable people in our 
communities and our specialist tenancy sustainment 
officers (TSO) can offer additional support to enable them 
to have the security of a home they know they can afford 
and manage. Through our extensive local connections, the 
TSOs work closely with other agencies to provide joined  
up support, a model which we will build on going forward.  
Through their work and that of the money advice team, 
eviction numbers have fallen over the year from 70 to 46.

50
evictions  
avoided

1,157
customers  
received 
financial 
assistance

148
customers 
have been 
helped with 
sustainability 
checks

26
households 
received free, 
reconditioned  
and safety 
checked goods
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“Wootton Vale is a real 
credit to bpha and is  
a warm and welcoming 
home for our residents. 
We’re delighted to 
have every apartment 
occupied and I am 
extremely proud of the 
community that is being 
created here.” 
Nicola Randall, bpha Extra Care Scheme Manager, 
runs the Wootton Vale Retirement Living scheme

Wootton Vale Retirement Community  
Our Retirement Living Scheme, Wootton Vale in 
Bedfordshire, opened in Spring of 2019. It is now fully 
occupied and is a thriving community. 

The modern, comfortable scheme is ideally positioned 
on the edge of the village of Wootton.  
Built over three floors, residents enjoy a range of facilities 
including a restaurant, gardens, hairdresser and  
beauty salon.

The scheme has been welcoming residents since 
February 2019 and feedback from those moving in has 
been extremely positive, with one new resident saying: “It’s 
great here and my apartment has very quickly become 
a happy home. Wootton Vale has a real community feel 
and it’s great to spend time with neighbours who offer me 
wonderful company and have become firm friends.”

Listening to our customers and understanding where  
we can improve is a key component of ensuring 
our services continue to improve. We use a series of 
Touchpoint surveys to ensure we maintain a ‘pulse check’ 
of customer satisfaction levels and additionally receive 
timely feedback that can be acted on immediately.  

The Touchpoint surveys were run quarterly throughout
2019 as a series of telephone calls to residents from
our own staff. The decision to carry out these ‘internal’
surveys gave our customers and staff a direct 
connection, particularly for those employees who don’t 
often speak to customers as it provided the opportunity 
to understand their situation, the impact we have on their 
lives and most importantly what we can do better.

Overall Satisfaction

The surveys used the areas of weakness identified in the 
benchmarking process and aimed to find out more, so 
that we could target them for improvement. They also 
included an overall satisfaction question to enable us 
to track our performance throughout the year. A direct 
output from the Touchpoint survey feedback from shared 
owners has been the initiation of a settling in call to all 
new home owners and tenants.

By contacting residents in new build homes 10 days into 
their tenure we can check they have everything they need 
and know who to contact and for what. Before receiving 
the feedback there was an inconsistent approach causing 
unnecessary anxiety and dissatisfaction.

Complaints 2019/20 Facts and Findings

We always seek to learn from the complaints we receive 
and prevent reoccurrence of errors that should have 
been avoided.

There was a small increase in complaints year on year 
with a total of 344 complaints logged. When considered 
against the c.300,000 interactions with our customers, this 
is a great achievement but one we always aim to improve.  

Causes of Complaints
The top 3 causes of complaints across the
organisation this year were:

•  service failure (a failure to provide the expected  
or required service)

•  poor customer service (where a service to the 
customer has been below their expectations)

•  poor communication (when misunderstandings have the 
potential to create poor performance and frustrations)

We have been able to use the outcomes of the 200 
upheld or partially upheld complaints (2018/19: 175) in 
different ways to try and prevent the same issue arising 
again. We have initiated meetings with our leaseholders 
to hear directly from them. During these sessions we 
specifically addressed their areas of dissatisfaction, 
the main one of which was the understanding of repair 
responsibilities. As a result of this process we also 
changed our Anti-Social Behaviour processes.

Task and Finish Group ASB
In consultation with our customers, we reviewed  
our ASB policies and procedures, creating a new 
dedicated section on our website where customers 
can easily access information and report issues. These 
changes are now being fed into our CRM system to 
create a new digital module which will create a much 
more transparent system for all.

Engaging with and 
listening to our customers

468

297

3442019/20

2018/19

2017/18
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Our retirement  
living options
Our Retirement Living services are an integral part of the 
bpha offer, as a large general needs provider across the 
region. The opportunity to give our customers a real choice 
as to their options for later life is not to be underestimated 
and is an area that we will continue to focus on over the 
coming years. 

In total we have over 1,100 specialist homes for people 
aged over 55, located across the region from Bury St 
Edmunds in the East to Trowbridge in the West. Of these, 
over 700 homes are provided in partnership with local 
authorities and care providers meaning that we can 
support people to live independently in their own home, 
with care on site rather than them taking the next step, 
a move to residential care services. This is not only 
beneficial to the individual but to the local community 
in maintaining a balance of ages and improving the 
economy for local shops and services and reducing 
care costs for individuals and local authorities.  

As part of our strategy to improve retirement living 
provision and increase the services on offer, 2019 saw the 
management of eight housing with Care Schemes being 
brought in-house and two new services completed and 
commissioned increasing our directly managed portfolio 
by 435 homes.

To manage these and provide a ‘bpha service’ we have 
restructured the entire retirement living team with the 
result that each service has an individual employee who 
can focus on giving our customers the personal attention 
they have told us they would like. Moving forward and 
utilising the new structure the vision for the services is to 
work more closely with the health and wellbeing services 
in their locality creating a more holistic approach to bpha 
housing with care.

We are very proud to have seen the completion and 
opening of the two new schemes, Eywood House in 
St Albans and Mill View in Hauxton which delivered 
110 modern, accessible apartments and give us an 
opportunity to promote a strong sense of community, 
reduce isolation and increased levels of security and 
well-being. Our emphasis following the addition of these 
new schemes has been to ensure they are filled whilst 
creating a supportive and welcoming environment for 
residents at each new location. 

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1 75.3%

74.5%

76.7%

75.1%
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A New Framework for Complaints
In June 2019 a review commenced of our complaints 
process. Through discussions with our customers, we 
identified that the process was felt to be too lengthy, 
potentially confusing and in need of an update. The 
process has since been revamped, making it more 
customer focused, shorter and equally accessible 
regardless of where customers live.

It was also an opportune time to update the residents’ 
complaints panel in terms of achieving more focused 
outcomes. A new group called Resolve, made up of nine 
customers, now audits all complaints to provide fairness 
checks, monitor timescales, tone of voice and record 
keeping. They meet regularly with the organisation’s 
Heads of Service to share their findings and scrutinise 
outcomes of complaints, especially where they have 
been escalated to the Ombudsman. This has already 
shown the value of an effective and independent 
perspective, even in its short period of operation to date.

Viewpoint
Our digital customer survey platform Viewpoint has 
been well used this year. Through Viewpoint, customers 
can give their feedback and views on a variety of 
housing topics, helping us to develop our services and 
input into national housing policies and debates. Topics 
this year have included: Furnished tenancies, the ‘Room 
to Move’ policy, reporting feedback, NHF Housing 
Futures, Satisfaction surveys and how to mark bpha’s 
30th anniversary.

Development of the Customer Committee
A further step towards a more involved customer 
base has commenced with the development of a new 
customer committee which will be used to share all 
aspects of customer experience with the Board. This will 
encompass the standard reporting on management 
of allocations and rents; but most importantly bring 
the voice of the customer directly to Board members 
whether from the Resolve group, the resident inspectors 
or other groups as the committee develops and 
opportunities arise.

Resident Inspectors
We have doubled our team of Resident Inspectors,  
with six residents providing on-the-ground feedback  
to Property Services. Their role has also been expanded 
to quantify the customer experience, gauging the quality 
and satisfaction of our repairs service. Their remit includes 
reporting on cleaning, grounds maintenance, planned 
and cyclical maintenance and repairs.

Community development
Sustainable Communities
Throughout 2019/20 the Community Development team 
has delivered projects aligning to the corporate strategy 
across three broad themes; quality of life, new communities 
and regeneration. They have worked to support bpha to 
create sustainable communities with neighbourhoods 
where people are proud to live. By working with partners 
and facilitating targeted multi-agency approaches, 
we have delivered the best levels of opportunity and 
engagement for our residents and the wider community.

As well as the proactive and enabling work of the team, 
Community Development have identified projects that 
seek to address specific issues for our communities. These 
have included problems such as antisocial behaviour, 
youth crime, loneliness, employment, education and 
upskilling. Over the last year, we have developed a joint 
working approach with Public Health teams that allow us 
to use data and insights to understand issues and deliver 
common goals that will benefit our communities. 

Working with New Communities
As we increase the number of homes we manage through 
our ongoing development programme, new communities 
are created. The role of the Community Development 
team is to build relationships and partnerships with local 
organisations to ensure our residents have access to the 
support and facilities they need. We work together to help 
create thriving, safe and happy places for people to live 
in. Throughout the year the team have been working to 
build communities in Northstowe and Trumpington, near 
Cambridge, linking in with organisations including schools, 
local authorities and community groups to help support 
and embed families in to their new community.Resident inspector  

Joe Birch 
Joe Birch is one of the Resident Inspectors who support 
the works of the Planned and Cyclical Teams within the 
Property Services department. Joe was keen to improve 
his knowledge and his chances of a career move to 
housing so bpha is sponsoring him through the Level  
2 Introductory Housing Qualification. Joe chose to pursue 
a Chartered Institute of Housing qualification, as it adds 
theoretical to practical knowledge, and for the sense of 
achievement too. This combines well with his experience 
of working in the customer service industry, seeking the 
best outcome for both the customer and the organisation 
in any situation.
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LOOKING AFTER 
OUR HOMES

Our Planned Works – Thinking Ahead,  
Delivering Cost and Energy Savings
Every year, bpha invests in improving homes to ensure 
that our homes are not only warm and safe but are 
desirable and provide modern living for our customers. 
In 2019/20 we invested over £27m repairing, servicing 
and refurbishing our homes.

We hold full, surveyed condition data on 100% of our 
properties and have a programme to refresh this data 
on a rolling programme every five years. We do this 
by surveying 20% of our stock every year and are 
committed to continuing with this regime.

Holding up to date information on our homes enables 
us to better plan for the future, ensuring that our homes 
meet modern standards, our residents are happy and 
our assets are protected.

We plan to enhance this data using Building Information 
Modelling (BIM) technology to provide digital modelling of 
our tower blocks and other buildings of multiple occupation.

We are committed to improving our homes to help 
increase their thermal efficiency and to reduce fuel 
poverty. We do this by replacing inefficient electric 
heating systems, installing modern boilers, replacing 
windows, fitting energy efficient modern lighting and 
other measures. We measure the energy efficiency  
of homes using SAP (Standard Assessment Procedure) 
data. The average SAP rating of our stock is currently 
73.3 which is better than the SHIFT average.

During the year, new boilers were installed in 750 homes, 
increasing thermal efficiency and helping residents to 
reduce their energy bills and use energy more efficiently. 
We are committed to working with our suppliers to trial 
new products to ensure our residents benefit from some 
of the most advanced and efficient systems available.

As well as modifying our properties to ensure our residents 
can reduce their fuel bills, we work hard to ensure our 
supply chain is also providing value for money services for 
us. We regularly re-procure our major works contracts, use 
local labour to ensure we are achieving value for money 
and we challenge our long-term partners to produce 
efficiency savings.

For example, through working with our gas supplier, 
we were able to improve the specification of new 
installations to include the fitting of carbon monoxide 
detectors, together with Sure Stop devices, which  
help protect properties from water damage with  
a seven-year warranty at no extra cost. 

Responsive Repairs – Maintaining Decent Homes 
We understand that to our residents, getting repairs carried 
out quickly and efficiently is important. We endeavour 
to deliver ‘a right first time’ repair service, reducing 
inconvenience for our residents and maintaining our 
properties to a high standard. 

Ensuring our residents have safe, well maintained 
homes that they are happy to live in is our priority.  
We want to make sure it is easy for customers to 
engage with us and feed back on the services we 
deliver. We work with our suppliers and contractors 
to ensure continuous improvement and introduce 
innovative solutions. 
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£27m
invested in maintaining 
and improving our  
existing homes

100%
emergency 
repairs on time

789
properties 
fitted with  
new windows 
and doors

During the year we improved 
the homes of our customers:

32,159
repairs  
carried out



29

We have long-term contract arrangements with our 
suppliers and our responsive repairs contractor co-locates 
in our offices to aid communication, promote partnership 
working and provide a seamless service to our residents.

Our performance on emergency repairs is very good 
with 100% of all emergency repairs completed within 24 
hours. During 2019/20, we completed over 32,000 repairs 
and achieved upwards of 96% satisfaction rates for the 
services that we provide.

Focus on Fire Safety
The health, safety and wellbeing of our residents is a moral 
and statutory obligation and bpha are committed to 
continuously improving how we deliver these services.

During 2019/20 we implemented a fully automated 
compliance system enabling us to monitor and track  
all aspects of health and safety compliance with  
real-time information helping us to maintain our 
outstanding safety record.

We aim to manage our blocks proactively to ensure the 
safety of our residents and integrity of our assets.

During 2019/20 we implemented actions from the Hackitt 
Review including door ‘tagging’. We continue with our 
sprinkler installation programme which will ensure all  
of our 14 tower blocks are fitted with sprinklers.

Our three-strong fire safety team of qualified and 
experienced Fire Officers continue to risk assess our flat 
blocks, input on the design of new build blocks and train 
our staff.
 
Our Primary Authority relationship with Bedfordshire 
Fire and Rescue Service is key to the success of our 
outstanding fire safety compliance performance.  
They continue to work with our long-established team 
of highly qualified and experienced Fire Safety Officers 
to ensure our buildings and homes remain safe and 
compliant with regulations. 

314
bathrooms 

362
roofs

305
kitchens

We replaced:

722
boilers

Brickhill lift replacement 
We carried out a programme of lift replacement in 5 of 
our blocks in Brickhill, Bedford. The apartments were 
built in 1966 and each block has a lift serving 6 floors. 
There are 24 apartments in each block and the lifts 
benefit around 240 of the residents who live there. The 
lifts were 53 years old and our recent condition reports 
indicated that they were reaching the end of their life, 
and needing constant maintenance causing disruption 
to our tenants.

The work needed meant each lift could have potentially 
been out of action for up to 8 weeks, significantly 
impacting on residents. The Community Development 
Team visited all the residents living in the flats to 
establish what support they might need whilst the lifts 
were being replaced. 

The team talked to 80% of the residents and provided 
additional support to 39 households including temporary 
re-housing, support with shopping, collecting prescriptions 
and other practical help. 

This successful refurbishment programme made the 
lifts fit for purpose and has given them at least 20 
further years of useful life. Future maintenance can be 
minimised and more reliable lifts improves the quality 
of life for our tenants.
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bpha owns 14 apartment blocks in Bedford, all of which 
were built in the 1950s and 1960s. The homes are in 
prime locations within the town and are popular places 
to live. We are committed to investing in these properties 
to ensure they are fit for purpose into the future and 
continue being desirable places for our residents to live.
 
Project Vista
Each year, bpha ensures we meet the Government’s 
decent homes standard by repairing and refurbishing 
our homes. Vista goes further than decent homes and 
aims to transform the external fabric of the buildings, 
modernise communal spaces, improve safety and 
enhance the grounds in which the blocks sit. 

The work planned for the blocks includes the replacement 
of all existing glazing and roof finishes and, importantly, 
the application of new rainscreen cladding systems. 
These will protect the structures and offer the opportunity 
for additional external insulation to be provided, 
substantially reducing heat loss and heat gain from 
and to these properties. Existing balconies will also be 
enclosed to provide ‘winter gardens’.

As well as improving the exterior of the property, new 
ventilation systems will be provided, internal communal 
areas will have new ceilings, new decoration and new low 
energy lighting systems. We have already fitted sprinkler 
systems to many of our larger blocks. This programme  
of works will continue until all of our apartment blocks 
have sprinkler systems.

The programme also intends to explore opportunities  
to provide new homes at existing sites.

Customer engagement is vital for the success of this 
project and we have begun consultations with our 
residents to ensure that any improvements we make are 
in line with the aspirations of both bpha and the people 
that live in our homes. 

To ensure effective management of the financial and 
operating risks, we have taken a phased approach.  
The initial seven blocks included in project Vista are: 

•  Ashburnham Court on Ashburnham Road, located 
directly opposite the Bedford train station

•  Bury Court on Church Lane, located approximately  
1.5 miles east of Bedford’s town centre

•  Evesham, Frampton, Leighton, Upton and Westbury 
Court at Brickhill, which is approximately 1.5 miles north 
of the town centre

bpha has already received planning permission for the 
works proposed at Ashburnham Court and an application 
has been made for the proposed regeneration of the Bury 
Court site. The procurement process to select a contractor 
has commenced and it is hoped that work can start on site 
in mid-2021.

PLANNING FOR 
THE FUTURE
Vista is bpha’s exciting new regeneration project 
which aims to improve and enhance a number  
of our apartment blocks in Bedford.
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NEW 
AFFORDABLE 
HOMES
We work across the Ox  
Cam Arc, where housing  
demand and the growing 
need for quality, affordable 
homes continues. 

We are a significant provider of new homes relative to our 
size. We built 651 homes in 2019/20 and remain on track to 
deliver 3,000 new homes in the five years to 2023. Working 
across the Ox Cam Arc, bpha is very well positioned to 
continue to address the growing need for more good 
quality and affordable homes in the region.

A key strand of our growth strategy is to increase the 
proportion of land-led schemes which we develop in 
the future. With over 200 plots progressing through the 
planning process, this ambition is being realised, giving 
us more control over the design and specification of our 
homes and flexibility to deliver homes to meet the wider 
housing needs of our customers.

Our partnerships with private developers continue to 
be an important element of our growth strategy. Large, 
strategic Section 106 developments deliver volume 
efficiently and we also work with small and medium sized 
developers to deliver the range of homes needed across 
the communities in which we operate. Pursuing joint 
ventures and building on the success of our partnership 
with Hill Residential at Ninewells in Cambridge is an 
important strand of our future growth strategy.

Providing quality homes to an excellent standard remains 
a priority for us and following investment in our Technical 
Services team during the year, we saw significant 
improvements in the quality of homes handed over to us 
and our customers. This, together with the development 
of our Customer Care team has resulted in a greatly 
enhanced experience for our customers as they move into 
their new homes and settle into their new communities.

We want to continue to improve on the quality of the  
homes we deliver and are pleased to be part of the  
National Housing Federation’s ‘Building Better’ programme, 
researching alternative methods of construction and  
off-site manufacture which we intend to deliver on 
sites within our development programme. Through this 
initiative, we aim to see benefits in terms of build quality, 
construction time and energy efficiency. Our growth 
strategy is closely aligned to our Environmental Strategy, 
ensuring that careful thought is given to where and what 
we build to minimise the environmental impact of our 
development activities.

Building Information Modelling (BIM) will form an 
important part of the design and build of our homes in 
the future, enabling the built asset to be more efficiently 
managed and maintained. Plans are currently being 
developed to pilot BIM within our land led programme.

During 2019/20 we were able to provide a foot on the  
housing ladder for 173 households through our Shared 
Ownership programme. Shared Ownership is an important 
part of bpha’s development programme as high property 
values across our area of operation would otherwise result 
in home ownership being out of reach for so many. 
Domovo, bpha’s Marketing and Sales service has also 
successfully provided its services to other organisations 
during the year, taking advantage of our bespoke 
Customer Relationship Management and integrated 
marketing systems.

Countess Way, Milton Keynes
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39
new affordable
homes completed  
in Cherwell

40
new affordable
homes completed  
in St Albans

67
new affordable
homes completed  
in Milton Keynes

28
new affordable
homes completed  
in Aylesbury Vale

85
new affordable
homes completed  
in Central Beds

89
new affordable
homes completed  
in Bedford

NEW AFFORDABLE  
HOME LOCATIONS  
IN 2019/20
We have built 651 new affordable homes and acquired 
10 existing properties over the year across our core 
operational area.

16
new affordable
homes completed  
in South Northants

203
new affordable
homes completed  
in South Cambs

60
new affordable
homes completed  
in Cambridge City

24
new affordable
homes completed  
in Daventry

Total Homes Owned or Managed at Year End

5,0000 10,000 15,000 20,000

1991 7,280
1992 7,201
1993 7,669
1994 7,941
1995 8,430
1996 8,751
1997 9,127
1998 9,537
1999 9,702
2000 9,797
2001 9,832
2002 9,797
2003 10,126
2004 10,243
2005 10,528
2006 11,279
2007 11,543
2008

2009 14,428
2010 15,782
2011 16,462
2012 17,013
2013 17,218
2014 17,427
2015 17,661
2016 17,896
2017 18,186
2018 18,253
2019 18,721
2020

13,364

19,235



Ninewells is an award-winning new scheme in Cambridge 
created through a successful joint venture partnership 
between Bushmead Homes and Hill Residential. The 
development was delivered over a 6 year period and 
comprises 270 new homes for outright sale, affordable 
rent and Shared Ownership. In addition to these homes 
the scheme included a 74 apartment retirement living 
scheme, Warburton House. The homes range from one 
and two bedroom apartments through to four and five 
bedroom town and detached houses.

The scheme is located close to the Addenbrookes 
Hospital campus, and within a 12 minute cycle from  
the city centre and Cambridge train station. 
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The attention given to design quality by award winning 
architects PTEa, has very much shaped the Ninewells 
landscape which reflects the surrounding Gog Magog 
Downs and includes green spaces, allotments and ponds. 
This natural landscaping is complemented with innovative 
public art across the site. 

Ninewells has put sustainability high on the agenda.  
All homes are designed with energy efficiency in mind  
by incorporating energy saving features such as  
a well insulated building fabric, large windows to 
maximise solar gain, highly efficient boilers and water 
efficient sanitaryware, taps and showers. Zoned heating, 
low energy lighting and A+ rated appliances were  
also incorporated in a further attempt to lower  
energy consumption.

Bushmead took a 25% stake in Ninewells delivery 
vehicle, Gog Magog LLP delivering a scheme with  
a gross development value of around £144m. Building 
on the success of Ninewells, joint ventures form an 
important part of our future growth strategy.
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QUALITY, 
PEOPLE AND 
PROCESSES 

Our success in achieving excellent customer service 
delivery is dependent on our people and our own 
employee team being able to deliver in their individual 
roles to achieve our wider business objectives.
 
Our People Strategy aims to create an organisation 
where our employees strongly identify with our social 
purpose, and where delivering exceptional service for 
our customers is at the heart of everything we do. We 
aim to create an open and inclusive culture, in a modern 
working environment, where people feel proud to work.
We deliver this strategy through our annual operational 
plans, which over the year have focused on:
 
•  developing our employer brand to attract and retain 

the best people
•  creating a positive organisational culture through 

employee engagement initiatives and activities
•  embedding clear and transparent people policies  

and processes
•  investing in our people through relevant and accessible 

learning and development programmes
•  maximising technology to automate and streamline 

core processes
 
Attracting the Right People
To attract and retain the best employees, a clear 
employer brand and strong values, together with the 
right employee development framework are critical.
We are now focused on increasing direct recruitment 
rather than relying on agencies. This enables us to better 
articulate the advantages of bpha employment, and 
we have benefitted through our ability to fill posts with 
high quality individuals and reduce costs. In the year, 
78% of our recruitment was achieved through direct 
recruitment.Where we do need to engage recruitment 
services, establishing and embedding a Preferred 
Supplier List for agency sourcing has also improved  
the quality of candidates sourced.

Our ‘bpha Together’ Employee  
Engagement Programme
Launched in September 2019, bpha Together is our 
organisation wide employee engagement programme. 
Volunteering, learning and wellbeing activities all 
feature as part of the wide-ranging offer to employees. 
The programme has involved people from across the 
business participating in a diverse range of engagement 
activities. To date this has included opportunities for 
employee volunteering activities, learning new skills and 
a number of social events. Activities have been designed 
to benefit both our employees and residents. Some 
examples from our popular volunteering programmes 
include; Christmas hamper delivery, school reading 
sessions and bike store and communal garden clearance. 
Having sought the views of our employees we have also 
commenced a programme of ‘Lunch and Learn’ sessions 
delivered by employees, as well as holding a ‘Repair Café’ 
and car maintenance workshop.

Investing in our employees to make sure they are 
supported and remain connected to bpha, our vision 
and values, is essential to our success. We have 
delivered this through the introduction of a new Health, 
Safety and Wellbeing Strategy and the development of 
wellbeing employee engagement and support initiatives 
through the ‘bpha Together’ programme.
 

We are a customer focused organisation, 
delivering a broad range of products 
and services to suit customer needs.

This has included a new Mental Health First Aider 
programme, where twelve employees from teams 
across the organisation took part in nationally accredited 
training to become Mental Health First Aiders (MHFA) 
as a first point of contact for employees. Combined with 
a ‘wellbeing calendar’ of monthly engagement activities 
and the introduction of enhanced external wellbeing 
services available to our people, we have a more joined 
up approach to supporting employee wellbeing and 
building resilience at work.
 
Embedding Clear and Accessible People Processes
A key element of our People Strategy has been to  
update and streamline our employee facing policies and  
clarify responsibilities. The culmination of this work was 
the introduction of a modern and fresh new Employee 
Handbook. This brings together all the information people  
need, from the first day in their new role and throughout 
their employee journey at bpha. This digital, visual and 
interactive resource is hosted on our employee intranet, 
‘The Hive’, so it is easily accessible. The Employee 
Handbook has proved popular since its launch and 
continues to be the most frequently viewed document on 
The Hive. A direct benefit of introducing the handbook 
has meant that the number of basic queries to the HR 
team has been significantly reduced. This has allowed 
the HR team to partner with managers across the 
business to support a wide range of people matters, 
including shaping organisational change, contributing  
to business projects and evaluating business risk.

 

Developing People
Developing employees is central to our People Strategy. 
As a service delivery organisation, we are committed 
to investing in employee’s personal growth. During the 
year we launched our Learning and Development (L&D) 
framework, further supporting our ability to attract and 
retain key people. This framework demonstrates the ways 
we can support our people to be the best they can be 
throughout their time with bpha. It provides a consistent 
approach for a positive learning experience. This 
commitment and ongoing investment in people is a key  
part of what makes bpha a great place to work. In 
addition, we have continued to tailor learning solutions to 
meet our business needs and changing environment. This 
has included using digital technology to enable greater 
efficiencies whilst providing more choice and accessibility 
for employees.
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We have:
 
•  increased the use of online virtual training to support 

our dispersed workforce and increase accessibility
•  introduced a new suite of e-Learning modules, 

streamlined and tailored for our business
•  refreshed the delivery of Health & Safety training 

through new accredited modules to complement more 
traditional offline training

•  developed a new training matrix defining compulsory 
training by job role

 
Professional Development Support
As part of our career development philosophy, we continue 
to offer financial support for professional qualifications at 
all levels of the organisation. During 2019/20 a total of 24 
employees undertook professional development, ranging 
across Chartered Institute of Housing, Finance & Treasury, 
Construction and Quantity Surveyor qualifications.  
The ability to access these additional qualifications whilst 
working with bpha, allows employees the opportunity  
to develop their knowledge and skills, enhancing both  
their effectiveness within their role and their own 
personal development.
 
‘Great Place to Work’ Offers Deeper Insights
As part of our bpha Together employee engagement 
programme, we refreshed our approach to surveying 
our employee views. Moving to the accredited ‘Great 
Place to Work’ employee survey provided us with fresh 
insights through a culture audit and wellbeing index. In 
addition, bpha achieved a place in the top 30 Great Place 
to Work large employer category which is a fantastic 
achievement in the first year. 

Our Great Place to Work employee champions have 
also developed action plans to build on engagement 
levels within their teams. The champions are also being 
encouraged to be involved in the wider bpha Together 
engagement programme activities.
 
Pursuing Equality
As a diverse workforce, we are committed to creating 
an open and inclusive culture, where the views of our 
employees are important. This year we introduced an 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion employee survey for 
the first time in January. The results are helping us to 
refresh our policies and develop new plans as part  
of our forward programme of work in this area. 

Continuous Improvements  
and Maximising Technology
As part of our commitment to service improvements, the 
HR team adopted a partnering approach, working closely 
with other teams to enable more direct insight and support 
to the business through service realignments. 
 
To complement the development and launch of the  
on-boarding platform, we designed and implemented  
a bespoke induction guide aimed at new line managers 
joining bpha. This sets out a quick reference ‘how 
to’ guide for managers covering all aspects of the 
employee life cycle. This will also help to ensure quality 
and consistency of management across bpha. We 
also enhanced our ‘self-service’ online resource for 
managers, improving accessibility and functionality  
and reducing the level of direct HR support needed.

Technology and systems
Strategic Technology Improvements
We have been modernising and developing our IT systems 
and technology over the past two years, to put the 
customer at the heart of all our operations. We also 
work to ensure we have robust and reliable data that  
is protected and secure.

Our intention is to improve the efficiency, consistency 
and quality of our service delivery and to meet the rising 
expectations of our customer, in this digital age. We are  
also designing ‘open’ systems that allow us to take 
advantage of new opportunities and technologies in  
the future and to capture enhanced Business Information 
to measure ourselves more effectively.

We are leveraging technology to free our teams 
progressively from routine work so they can apply their 
human skills to specialist customer support which may 
require empathy, expertise or human judgement.

As part of this process we are rebuilding all our customer 
facing processes and enabling customers to interact 
with us in new ways (including digitally if that is their 
preference). Our aim is to ensure that the required service 
is delivered consistently and efficiently whether requested 
in person, via phone, or via our new web portal.

At the heart of this strategy is our new Customer 
Relationship Management System (CRM) which will 
eventually securely store data on all matters relating  
to an individual customer.

Single View Customer Relationship  
Management (CRM)
We have progressed implementation of our new CRM 
system, towards providing our customers with a single 
view of their relationship with us and improve our 
operations efficiency. The ‘single view’ principle of our 
CRM system is central, and it will eventually contain all 
contact events and documents for each customer and 
property, and even customer service preferences. 

We will see the full history of each home, from acquisition 
onwards including all associated safety checks, planned 
and reactive repairs and copies of documents, so we can 
continuously manage the safety and quality of homes for 
our customers.

The first wave of our new Customer Portal has been 
launched for garage rentals, allowing us to test this system 
on a non-critical product for customers. Our customers 
can now manage their complete garage tenancy online. 
By reducing the amount of time properties (in this case 
garages) are empty, we are maximising availability for 
customers and minimising financial loss for bpha.

The customer portal will be extended as new functionality 
is delivered into the CRM solution, and eventually it will 
include all tenancy activities.

In 2020 this is expected to include Enquiries and Case 
Management, along with ASB and Safeguarding 
components. The development of ASB and Safeguarding 
modules has been accelerated as part of our response  
to the Covid-19 lockdown.

New Finance System
Our new finance system has also been rolled out, providing 
an understanding of detailed costs at an individual 
property level, contributing significantly to management 
efficiency and effective planning.

Efficient and Secure Technology for the Future
To ensure we are well informed and innovative we work 
closely with other housing associations to share challenges, 
direction and solutions. Cyber-attacks are an ever-present 
threat for all organisations, so investment in protection and 
security is an ongoing priority to ensure safety of all our 
data and operations.

24
Promotions

102
New starters

2,066
Courses run

8,342
Learning hours

bpha offered me the opportunity to undertake some 
professional development. It was a part time degree course 
in Construction Management which I completed alongside 
my full time role over four and a half years. It was extremely 
hard work at times, but it was well worth it. The experience 
I gained while working at bpha alongside the studying was 
invaluable in helping me progress in my career and I am 
extremely grateful for having this opportunity. I don’t know 
what the future holds yet, but I do know that I want to 
continue learning and providing the best service possible  
to bpha and its customers.
 
Alex Liburd, Responsive & Planned Maintenance Manager
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OPERATING 
AND FINANCIAL 
REVIEW 

Our organisation delivers across two distinct areas: the 
Core Operating Business which primarily comprises 
social housing lettings; and our development and  
sales business. 

bpha’s Core Operating Business is efficient at delivering  
a strong and stable financial performance with consistent 
surpluses after investment in maintenance of our 
properties. This business performed strongly in the year 
with an increased operating surplus of £42m (2019: 
£41m) which comfortably exceeds the net interest costs. 
Our development and sales business builds affordable 
homes some of which are sold and so is more subject  
to market conditions.

Neither business is dependent on the other, so our core 
rental business is less affected by open market factors, 
such as Brexit uncertainty and the relative year on year 
slowdown in sales.

The strong and steady cashflow from our Core Operating 
Business continues to secure our A+ Standard & Poor 
rating and our V1 rating from the Social Housing Regulator. 
This level of confidence was proven by the success of 
our debut Private Placement, delivering £125 million 
from investors in the UK, US and Canada, with over-
subscription of nearly 3 times.

The success of our Private Placement gives us significant 
liquidity to manage the potential stress on the business 
caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. Cash on the balance 
sheet has increased from £17m last year to a healthy 
£41m at year end – with further cash received in May 
from the remaining Private Placement receipts. Gearing 
increased marginally at year end, due to the £76m 
receipt from our Private placement. 

Property sales have proved challenging with the weaker 
market; nevertheless, we are satisfied with a sound 
performance, in the context of consumer uncertainty 
during 2019. Confidence levels increased after the 
December 2019 election and formal confirmation of 
departure from the EU. However, the emergence of the 
Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 introduced a new 
brake on the market. 

The fall in the sales surpluses was the primary driver in 
the reduction of the operating surplus to £60m (2019: 
£68m), together with smaller valuation gains on investment 
properties. The surplus before tax of £18m (2019: £34m) 
was also impacted through a £9m movement in market 
value of financial instruments, which we expect to reverse 
in future years as the interest rate swaps come to an end.

Strong financial management and robust governance 
ensures we are a safe and secure company with 
significant liquidity to manage the ongoing economic 
difficulties caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. We 
have the financial resources to continue our ambitious 
development programme and invest in the maintenance 
of existing homes despite the current uncertainty. 

The Core Operating Business

The Core Operating Business continued to perform 
strongly as turnover increased to £103m (2019: £99m) 
due to our ongoing development program which 
resulted in 434 properties built for rent during the year. 
We target our Core Operating Business to achieve 
margins above 40% and this continued during the year 
at 41%. 

Development and Sales

The Development and Sales business experienced a 
drop in sales during the year to £42m (2019: £50m)  
as the prevailing economic uncertainty reduced volumes  
of completions during the year. The number of first tranche 
shared ownership units sold fell from 190 to 173 which 
was still a creditable performance in a difficult market.  
The profit on disposal of fixed assets (primarily shared 
ownership staircasing) reduced from £10m to £8m  
as a number of sales were delayed at year end due to 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

TurnoverTurnover Operating Surplus

2017/182017/18
£’000£’000

2018/192018/19
£’000£’000

2019/202019/20
£’000£’000

2017/182017/18
£’000£’000

2018/192018/19
£’000£’000

2019/202019/20
£’000£’000

Core Operating BusinessCore Operating Business 95,94695,946 98,72298,722 102,961102,961 44,47044,470 41,19541,195 41,89241,892

Development & Sales BusinessDevelopment & Sales Business 46,27646,276 49,50149,501 41,82741,827 22,10222,102 22,81322,813 18,01418,014

Valuation gain on investment propertiesValuation gain on investment properties (2,530)(2,530) 3,9353,935 863863

Pension adjustments (McCloud) (390)(390)

142,222142,222 148,223148,223 144,788144,788 64,04464,044 67,94367,943 60,38060,380
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Gearing assets and debt

The value of our housing assets has continued to rise, 
increasing by £57m during the year, mainly as a result  
of a net 514 unit increase in our property portfolio (new 
homes completions less asset sales). Following the 

successful issuance of our Private Placement in February 
2020, we received the first instalment of £76m in March 
which was partially used to repay our revolving credit 
facility leaving £23m of additional cash at year end. 

Key
 Housing assets (Right Axis)
 Net debt (Right Axis)
 Gearing (Left Axis)

2017/182017/18
£m£m

2018/192018/19
£m£m

2019/202019/20
£m£m

Housing assetsHousing assets £1,074m£1,074m £1,167m£1,167m £1,225m£1,225m

Net debt £719m£719m £765m£765m £808m£808m

GearingGearing 67%67% 66%66% 66%66%

Julian Pearce
Chief Financial Officer
Julian joined bpha in October 2019 having spent 
over 20 years in a range of senior executive finance 
roles, most recently as Chief Financial Officer at NHS 
Property Services. He has a strong track record as 
a senior executive operating at Board level and was 
previously a Partner at KPMG, where he headed up 
their Financial Sector Transaction Services Business. 
He has also been a Finance Director at Lloyds 
Banking Group.

Cash generation

Our net cashflow from operating activities is sufficient  
to cover both debt interest and capital expenditure  
on existing assets, showing that our core operations  
are cash generative.

During the year the net cash flow from operating 
activities, combined with the proceeds from sales, 
covered more than half of our development expenditure.

Treasury

We have strict liquidity targets to ensure that sufficient 
liquidity is available to fund ongoing and planned 
activities. During 2019/20 we had a net increase in 
facilities of £67m, being the issue of a £125m Private 
Placement offsetting the expiry of a £50m revolving 
credit facility and repayment of £7.5m on a bank term 
facility. At 31 March 2020, £855m of funding was drawn 
against total facilities of £1,119m (includes £3m overdraft).
 
Our cash position was strengthened during the year and 
at 31 March 2020 undrawn debt facilities and £33m of cash 
immediately available meant that our liquidity headroom 
increased to £298m. During the year we also converted 
a revolving credit facility to unsecured, therefore allowing 
this to be immediately available which meant our security 
headroom (made up of undrawn facilities which are fully 
available to draw within 48 hours, plus cash on deposit) has 
also increased significantly to £251m. 

This strong liquidity means that all future committed 
developments can be funded from existing facilities, 
without the need to raise new funding. As detailed in 
the group cash flow statement, strong operational cash 
flow in the year has contributed significantly towards 
our development spend and our net debt (after taking 
account of additional cash held as a result of receiving 
funding in March from a private placement issued in 
February 2020) only rose to £808m (2019: £765m).
 
Our loan covenants are predominantly based upon 
interest coverage, asset cover and gearing ratios. 
Covenants are regularly monitored in accordance with 
our governance framework and were comfortably met 
throughout the year.
 
In October 2019 Standard & Poors reaffirmed our credit 
rating as A+ (negative).
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VALUE 
FOR MONEY
Board Responsibility
The Board takes responsibility for Value for Money 
(VfM) by:

• setting objectives and targets
•  approving the use of resources through the budget 

and business plan
•  monitoring performance and results

We generate value through building and maintaining 
quality homes and thriving communities by being 
increasingly efficient. In support of this, we have four 
interdependent goals:

•  the protection and efficient utilisation of existing assets
•  the delivery of well defined, appropriate services to  

a range of tenant and customer groups
• the development of new homes
•  the protection and development of the organisation’s 

financial capability

After consideration of the measures set by the Regulator 
of Social Housing and other key performance indicators, 
the Board has concluded that we have been successful 
in delivering Value for Money.  Throughout the year the 
organisation maintained control of costs, investment in 
improvements to service delivery and existing stock and 
the delivery of new homes.

Value for Money Performance
We have continued to achieve strong performance 
across a range of indicators. All measures outlined 
have been benchmarked against a comparable group 
of 13 housing associations (Peer Group) in terms of 
size and geography, alongside the national averages. 
This comparison is based on the most recent available 
information published by the Regulator of Social 
Housing on 31 March 2019.

These measures have been mandated by the Regulator 
of Social Housing, including the definition of the measure, 
which sometimes differs to measures elsewhere in the 
financial statements and to our financial covenants.

bpha sets challenging targets each year to achieve 
value for money. The current targets for 2020/21 were 
prepared before the covid-19 pandemic resulted in 
lockdown restrictions, which will inevitably result in a more 
challenging environment. Accordingly the Board will keep 
these under review throughout the coming year and adjust 
where necessary to take account of the conditions that 
the Group will be operating under. 

Reinvestment %

Our reinvestment rates have historically been high 
compared with others in the sector and we continue to 
deliver results in line with the upper quartile compared  
to the sector and against our peer group. The timing  
of development handovers this year has driven a lower 
than target result, however we continue work to expand 
our development programme. 
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New Supply (Social) %

The delivery of new affordable homes is dependent on  
the timing of development schemes and may not reflect  
the level of investment during the period. During the 
year we delivered a further 651 new affordable homes 
which is 30 more than last year, but less than our target. 
The 3.8% proportion of new social housing units delivered 
during the year remains high compared with others in 
the sector and our peers. 

New Supply (Non-social) %

In the year we have delivered properties via our joint 
venture with Hill through the Gog Magog LLP. Delays 
in planning consents and other factors resulted in less 
new supply during the year but we anticipate more 
development in 2020/21.

Gearing %

Our level of gearing, measured as the proportion of net 
debt to the book value of housing, shows that we are 
making use of our assets to raise funds for investment 
while maintaining a sustainable level of debt. This reflects 
our objectives of investing in both new and existing homes, 
and we expect this to remain relatively high compared 
with others.

Headline Social Housing Cost Per Unit £

Traditionally, we have been able to demonstrate a high 
level of control over our costs. Our headline social housing 
cost per unit has remained well below sector averages 
and is close to the lower peer and sector quartile. The 
headline social housing cost per unit of £3,243 for the 
year is slightly better than our target. We expect this cost 
to increase in the short term due to our investment in 
systems and people to support future efficiency gains.

EBITDA MRI Interest Rate Cover %

EBITDA MRI is a measure of cashflow, and this shows that 
our earnings continue to exceed our interest charges by 
a margin, considerably exceeding our funding covenants. 
We remain just above the lower quartile compared both 
with our close peers and nationally, reflecting our long-term  
track record of delivering new homes supported by higher 
gearing. A reduction in sales surpluses resulted in the result 
being below target.

Operating Margin (SHL) %

The margin on our social housing lettings remains 
broadly consistent and is at the top end of the higher 
quartile compared with the sector and within the middle 
quartile compared with the peer group. Excluding 
historical pension costs, the margin is 39.3%.

Operating Margin (overall) %

Our overall operating margin has fallen slightly in the 
year but is better than our target. This performance 
reflects increased operating costs as a result of planned 
investment in people and technology. This performance 
remains comfortably at the top end of the higher quartile 
against both peers and the sector, reflecting our high 
levels of efficiency. This measure can be impacted by the 
volume of sales arising in the development programme 
which may differ from year to year, but we aim to ensure 
that our cost controls free funds for greater investment in 
new and existing homes. 

ROCE %

Our return on capital employed was below target due to  
a reduction in our sales surplus. However, it is in line with 
the top quartile for our close peers and is just below top 
quartile nationally.
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GOVERNANCE 
REPORT 2020

This report provides a clear and meaningful explanation 
of how the bpha Board and its committees discharge 
their governance duties and apply the principles of good 
governance outlined in the National Housing Federation 
Code of Governance 2015 (the Code). bpha can confirm 
that it has remained fully compliant with the Code 
throughout the year.

bpha is a Co-Operative and Community Benefit Society, 
whose charitable objects are to provide and manage 
housing for those in need due to limited financial 
circumstances, age or disability. These charitable 
objectives are at the heart of the Board’s strategic aims.

During the year the Board met formally on 8 occasions.  
Four meetings were focused on reviewing organisational 
performance, including in relation to health and safety  
and risk. Four further meetings were focused specifically  
on the Group’s strategic aims and the risks to achieving 
those aims. The Board considered its approach to 
Customer Engagement and Customer Service; Asset 
Management; Development and Sales; Environment; IT 
and Systems and Employee and Workforce Management. 

The Board determined that its strategic approach in 
each area would be developed in accordance with the 
following principles:

1.  Put the Health and Safety of its customers and 
employees ahead of all other considerations. 

2.  Keep its customers at the centre of its goals and 
decisions ensuring that the voice of the tenant is 
listened to, respected and taken into full account.

3.  Maintain regulatory compliance and the highest 
overall standards of governance.

4.  Work within its agreed risk appetite. 
5.  Achieve ‘Value for Money’ in the way that it delivers  

its services. 
6.  Work in a sustainable manner with proper regard to 

protecting and enhancing the natural environment 
within its area of operation.

7.  Wherever possible and practical, work with partners 
to achieve scale efficiencies, to accelerate learning, 
to share risks or to open opportunities which the 
organisation could not access on its own.

The Principles of Good Governance

The Composition and Skills of the Board
The Board of bpha is made up of both Executive 
and Non-Executive members, chosen for their skills, 
qualifications and experience. The Board regularly 
reviews the skills of its members in the light of its 
organisational strategy to ensure that the Board 
has the right mix of skills and experience to meet  
the challenges of the future. 

bpha’s Board consists of 7 Non-Executive Members 
and 4 Executive Members and the Board considers that 
this delivers a suitable mix of direct insight and control, 
balanced with effective independent challenge.

During the year bpha appointed Julian Pearce to the 
Board as Chief Financial Officer. Julian joined bpha in 
October 2019 having spent over 20 years in a range  
of senior executive finance roles. In addition bpha also 
appointed two new Non-Executive Directors, Geraldine 
O’Sullivan and Shirley Pointer, bringing with them a wealth 
of experience in the health and human resource sectors 
respectively. 

We reported last year that Bob Tattar had been 
appointed to the group’s Audit and Risk Committee 
as an independent member. In recognition of Bob’s 
strong skills and experience both in finance and within 
the property sector, Bob was appointed a full Board 
member in October 2019.

Compliance with Regulatory Standards 
bpha is regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing. We 
are pleased to have received confirmation that we have 
retained our G1 and V1 ratings for Governance and Viability 
from the Regulator of Social Housing in the year and that 
we have met in full the requirements of the Regulator’s 
Governance and Financial Viability Standard.
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Committee Structure Review
Aligned to its strategic review, completed in September 
2019, the Board considered how its aims could be most 
effectively delivered through its committee structure, taking 
account of the need for an effective and streamlined 
governance and decision making processes. The Board 
considered particularly the investment of bpha’s charitable 
funds in Bushmead Homes Limited, which aims to both 
provide a financial return to bpha to further its social 
purpose and support that purpose by enhancing the 
provision of affordable housing. The Board considered 
the possible conflict in roles between the bpha Board and 
members of the Bushmead Board and determined that an 
independent Non-Executive Director should be appointed 
to the Bushmead Board. Cliff Broadhurst, an independent 
committee member, was appointed to fulfil this role on the 
1 January 2020.

Following review, the Board is now supported by the 
following committees:

Audit and Risk Committee
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is:

•  to bring independent scrutiny and challenge to provide 
the Board with assurance

•  to exercise oversight of the internal and external  
audit functions 

• to provide detailed scrutiny and evaluation of risk
• to advise the Board on internal controls 
•  to review compliance with key statutory duties  

and regulatory standards

Development and Assets Committee
The purpose of the Development and Assets  
Committee is:

•  to consider, approve and have oversight of major 
investments, acquisitions, disposals, development 
projects, sales and commercial activities for the  
bpha Group

•  to ensure the alignment of the Development Strategy 
with the Corporate Strategy, Funding Strategy and 
financial capacity planning

•  to review and recommend to the Board the Group’s 
asset management strategy ensuring that this is 
consistent with the Group’s Corporate Strategy and 
long term business plan and goals

•  to review the compliance of existing homes within 
the Group with the Regulator of Social Housing’s 
regulatory standards 

•  to review the performance of investments in major 
works programmes

•  to ensure that investment in any commercial  
trading subsidiary or activity fulfils its charitable 
investment purpose

Group Treasury Committee
The purpose of the Group Treasury Committee is:

•  to provide advice to the Board on the funding and 
financial implications of the Corporate Strategy; in 
particular, on any implications for the key financial 
metrics of the Group, and requirements for short to 
medium term funding 

•  to review and recommend to the Board an appropriate 
funding strategy to support the delivery of the Group’s 
Corporate Strategy and long term business plans 

•  to review the long term business plans to ensure that 
adequate borrowing arrangements can be put in place 
to meet the requirements in the plan and that interest 
payments and repayments of loans can be met by 
Group resources in accordance with the plan 

•  to consider and (as applicable) approve or recommend 
strategies and policies in relation to areas of treasury 
management

•  to provide assurance on specific treasury proposals  
and changes

Remumeration and Nominations Committee
The purpose of the Remumeration and Nominations 
Committee is to:

•  to set the Group’s principles and parameters for 
remuneration policy and to oversee remuneration 
policy and outcomes

•  to ensure that all relevant remuneration decisions  
are lawful, transparent, fair and appropriate 

•  to lead the process for Board appointments and  
to make recommendations to the Board

•  to ensure there is an appropriate strategy in place  
so that the Group has staff with sufficient capacity, 
skills, qualifications and expertise to support the 
delivery of the Corporate Strategy

Subsidiary Companies
The Group has one wholly owned trading subsidiary, 
Bushmead Homes Limited. Bushmead’s role is to support 
the Group’s Corporate Strategy in delivering homes for 
affordable rent, shared ownership and private sale. 

Bushmead Homes Limited has a 25% interest in Gog 
Magog LLP which develops homes for outright sale as well 
as affordable homes for sale to registered providers from 
the Ninewells scheme in South Cambridgeshire. The Group 
also has a special purpose vehicle, bpha Finance plc, which 
was established for the purpose of issuing bonds. 

bpha also owns a 50% share in the Oxfordshire Care 
Partnership and the Gloucestershire Care Partnership, 
joint venture companies that provide care services to 
Oxfordshire and Gloucestershire County Councils through 
a sub-contract with the Order of St John’s Care Trust. 
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Non-Executive Directors
Paul Leinster 
Chair of the board 
 

Ian Ailles  
Senior Independent Director  
and Chair of Audit and  
Risk Committee 

  

Martin Hurst   
Non-Executive Director  
and Chair of Group  
Treasury Committee 

   

Bob Tattar   
(joined Board 1 October 2019) 
Non-Executive Director 

  

Paul High 
Non-Executive Director  
and Chair of Development  
and Assets Committee 

 

Geraldine O’Sullivan  
(joined 1 April 2019) 
Non-Executive Director 

 

Shirley Pointer 
(joined 1 April 2019) 
Non-Executive Director  
and Chair of Remunerations  
and Nominations Committee 

 

Jill Ainscough  
(left 30 September 2019) Non-Executive Director  
and Chair of RNC

Shan Hunt  
(left 31 May 2019) Non-Executive Director

Company Secretary
Philippa Spratley

BOARD AND 
COMMITTEES
Year ended 31 March 2020

Executive Directors
Kevin Bolt 
Chief Executive Officer

Julian Pearce  
(joined 14 October 2019)  
Chief Financial Officer

Julie Wittich 
Executive Director of Assets

Jeff Astle 
Executive Director of 
Development and Sales

Paul Gray  
(left 30 April 2019) Chief Financial Officer

Executive Team Members
Adrian Moore 
Director of IT

Anna Humphries  
Director of Customers  
and Services

Liz Parsons  
Director of Quality  
and Communications

Committee Members
Malcolm Zack 
Independent Member of Audit  
and Risk Committee 

Cliff Broadhurst 
Independent Member of Group 
Treasury Committee and  
Non-Executive Director 
Bushmead Homes 

Key
 Audit and Risk Committee
 Development and Assets Committee
 Group Treasury Committee
  Remunerations and Nominations Committee
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RISK AND 
ASSURANCE 

bpha’s risk management culture and approach is an 
integral part of how we make decisions and run our 
business. We are always improving our understanding 
of risk, the risk landscape and how this might affect our 
ability to deliver our strategy. 

We work across the organisation to ensure risk 
understanding and awareness is embedded in our 
culture and is part of our day to day operations.

In the year we: 

•  refreshed how we consider risk at all levels through 
the development of a Strategic Risk Register alongside 
the Tactical Risk Register. This provides us with a view 
of the overarching risk areas that might impact on the 
delivery of our strategic goals

•  extended the focus of risk management reviews to 
include wider and more diverse market conditions

•  utilised our risk appetite statement proactively to 
provide a framework to assess potential opportunities 
and to inform decision making 

•  carried out stress testing of recovery plans, business 
continuity and business resilience

•  worked with our Audit and Risk Committee to evaluate  
low likelihood risks that might have a high impact

•  used risk analysis data to engage with stakeholders to 
inform decision making and help communicate actions 
and outcomes

Our assurance framework identifies, rationalises 
and consolidates multiple sources of assurance and 
facilitates swift escalation of issues to the Board and 
senior management where required. The framework 
follows the recognised three lines of defence approach:

bpha’s dynamic risk management process 
continues to evolve to meet emerging challenges, 
and to safeguard our organisation and our 
customers now and in the future. 

Risk Appetite
bpha’s risk appetite is a key element of the risk strategy 
and has been defined and approved by the Board. 
All new activities or proposed commitments, such as 
developments or treasury activities, are assessed against 
our risk appetite before progressing. The organisation’s 
risk appetite is regularly reviewed and updated to reflect 
the operating environment.

Trending of Risks
Analysis of our top risks continues to show that scores are 
rising and this reflects the uncertain political and economic 
environment that we are operating in. In particular, the risks 
have been updated to reflect the Covid-19 pandemic and 
the impact this will have on bpha. This overall rising trend 
is also being driven by external factors including market 
sales exposure and falling property values in areas such  
as Cambridge. 

The Strategic Risk Register
The strategic risk register has been developed and is  
built up from the tactical risk register and themes that 
emerge from horizon scanning. The strategic risk areas 
are categorised across 15 themes and take account  
of the Sector Risk Profile and the key risks identified  
by the Regulator for Social Housing.

The sales risk is mitigated through our marketing program 
and we will also consider tenure conversion to rent if 
appropriate. The employment risk is addressed through 
our continued investment in colleague wellbeing and our 
extensive learning and development program.

Trend in the Average Net Score of the Top Ten Risks 

Strategic Risk Map – Qtr 1 2020/21

Strategic Risk Register

BOARD AND AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE

EXTER
N

AL AU
D

IT
EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

FIRST LINE OF DEFENCE
Frontline operational activities 
and oversight through 
performance management, 
delivery of objectives and 
systems controls, policy  
and procedures.

SECOND LINE OF DEFENCE
Management review of 
activities including compliance 
assessments, ISO quality 
auditing, health and safety 
monitoring, data assurance, 
delivering strategic objectives.

THIRD LINE OF DEFENCE
Independent and objective 
assessments of management 
of risks. Taking assurance 
from other third party sources 
including internal and external 
audit and the regulator.

Assurance Framework

NUMBER RISK DESCRIPTION

1 Sales The ability to sell properties and the potential financial impact

2 Safeguarding Customer safety and employee protection

3 Financial Viability/Cash Resources Market disruption which could affect our financial position

4 Employment/Skills Availability Ability to recruit, retain employees and employee wellbeing

5 Regulation/RSH/HE Compliance with regulatory standards

6 Loss of Income Arrears or long-term voids impacting on income

7 Supply Chain Availability and cost of goods from suppliers

8 Service Failure Contractor/agency performance not being achieved and any risks to service delivery

9 Data Management/Control Breaches or failures of data management and data protection

10 Fraud Security Fraudulent activity which could impact on income, data and core systems

11 Development/Planning Ability to build new units from planning

12 Care Partnerships Effective working with care home operators

13 Internal Control Risks that affect the bpha control environment

14 Health and Safety Health & Safety risks in relation to tenants and employees

15 Cyber Security Attacks on our systems infrastructure
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Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law 
requires the Board to prepare financial statements  
for each financial year.

Under those regulations the Board has elected to 
prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK 
Accounting Standards, including FRS 102, the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland.

The financial statements are required by law to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and 
the association and of the income and expenditure of 
the group and the association for that period.

In preparing these financial statements, the Board is
required to:
•  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently 
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent
•  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and 

the Statement of Recommended Practice have been 
followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements

•  assess the group’s and the association’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and

•  use the going concern basis of accounting unless it 
either intends to liquidate the group or the association 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so

The Board is responsible for keeping proper books of 
account that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the association and enable 
them to ensure that its financial statements comply with 
the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2019. It is responsible for such internal 
control as it determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and has general responsibility for taking such steps as 
are reasonably open to it to safeguard the assets of the 
association and to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities.

The Board is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the association’s website. Legislation in the 
UK governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.

Statement as to Disclosure of Information 
to Auditors
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of 
this Board’s Report confirm that, so far as they are each 
aware, there is no relevant information of which the 
association’s auditors are unaware, and each Director 
has taken steps that they ought to have taken as a 
Director to make themselves aware of any relevant 
information and to establish that the association’s 
auditors are aware of this information.

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint KPMG LLP as auditors of 
the association for a second term of three years was 
approved by Board on 4 July 2018.

Approval of Report
The Report of the Board, including the Strategic Report 
and Governance Report, was approved by the Board on 
28 July 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

Philippa Spratley
Company Secretary
6 August 2020

STATEMENT OF BOARD’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT 
OF THE BOARD’S REPORT AND 
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible for preparing the Board’s 
Report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

59
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO bpha LIMITED
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of bpha 
Limited (“the association”) for the year ended 31 March 
2020 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Financial Position, Cash Flow 
Statement, Statement of Changes in Equity and related 
notes, including the accounting policies in note 2. 

In our opinion the financial statements:

•  give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK 
accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland, of the state of affairs of the group and the 
association as at 31 March 2020 and of the income  
and expenditure of the group and the association for 
the year then ended  

•  comply with the requirements of the Co-operative  
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; and 

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers 
of Social Housing 2019

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described 
below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, 
and are independent of the group and the association in 
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the 
FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis 
for our opinion.

Going Concern
The association’s Board has prepared the financial 
statements on the going concern basis as they do not 
intend to liquidate the group or the association or to 
cease their operations, and as they have concluded that 
the group and the association’s financial position means 
that this is realistic. They have also concluded that 
there are no material uncertainties that could have cast 
significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going 
concern for at least a year from the date of approval  
of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

We are required to report to you if we have concluded 
that the use of the going concern basis of accounting 
is inappropriate or there is an undisclosed material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt over the use 
of that basis for a period of at least a year from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. In our evaluation 
of the Board’s conclusions, we considered the inherent 
risks to the group’s business model and analysed how 
those risks might affect the group and association’s 
financial resources or ability to continue operations over 
the going concern period. We have nothing to report in 
these respects.  

However, as we cannot predict all future events or 
conditions and as subsequent events may result in 
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements that 
were reasonable at the time they were made, the 
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this 
auditor’s report is not a guarantee that the group or  
the association will continue in operation. 

Other Information
The association’s Board is responsible for the other 
information, which comprises the Strategic Report and 
the Governance Report. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, 
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is 
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on  
that work, we have not identified material misstatements  
in the other information.

Matters on Which we are Required to Report  
by Exception
Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014 we are required to report to you if,  
in our opinion:

•  the association has not kept proper books of account; or
•  the association has not maintained a satisfactory 

system of control over transactions; or
•  the financial statements are not in agreement with  

the association’s books of account; or
•  we have not received all the information and 

explanations we need for our audit

We have nothing to report in these respects.

Board’s Responsibilities 
As more fully explained in their statement set out on 
page 59, the association’s Board is responsible for the 
preparation of financial statements which give a true and 
fair view; such internal control as it determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; assessing the group and the association’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern; and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless it either intends 
to liquidate the group or the association or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is 
provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. 

The Purpose of Our Audit Work and to Whom  
We Owe Our Responsibilities
This report is made solely to the association in accordance 
with section 87 of the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 and section 128 of the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the association those 
matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the association as a body, for our audit work,  
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Harry Mears
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants 
15 Canada Square
London
E14 5GL

6 August 2020
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Note

2020
Group
£’000

2020
Association

£’000

2019
Group
£’000

2019
Association

£’000

Turnover 3 126,254 125,174 124,529 123,788 

Cost of sales 3 (12,946) (12,946) (12,992) (12,992)

Operating costs 3 (62,665) (62,614) (58,455) (58,177)

Gain on disposal of tangible fixed assets 3, 10 8,874 8,874 10,926 10,926 

Valuation gain on investment properties 3, 13  863  863 3,935 3,935 

                             

Operating surplus 3 60,380 59,351 67,943 67,480 

Interest receivable and similar income 7 710 648 828 643 

Interest payable and similar charges 8 (33,363) (33,363) (33,846) (33,846)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 20 (9,712) (9,712) (796) (796)

Gift aid - 632 - 551 

                             

Surplus before tax  18,015 17,556 34,129 34,032 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 11  -    -    -    -   

                             

Surplus for the year 9,23 18,015 17,556 34,129 34,032 

                             

Other comprehensive income

Actuarial gains on pension scheme 21  1,971  1,971 611 611 

                             

Other comprehensive income for the year 23 1,971 1,971 611 611 

                             

Total comprehensive income for the year 23 19,986 19,527 34,740 34,643 

bpha Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Note

2020
Group
£’000

2020
Association

£’000

2019
Group
£’000

2019
Association

£’000

Fixed assets
Housing properties and other fixed assets 12 1,227,936 1,227,936 1,170,551 1,170,551 
Fixed asset investments 13, 29 15,633 34,146 14,770 33,283 
HomeBuy loans receivable 30,454 30,454 33,233 33,233 
Investment in associates 31  -    -   632  -   

1,274,023 1,292,536 1,219,186 1,237,067 

Current assets
Properties for sale and work in progress 12 43,307 28,433 36,624 23,509 
Trade and other debtors  14 8,186 7,345 9,077 7,874 
Short term investments 15 19,097 19,097 9,780 9,780 
Cash and cash equivalents 27 40,667 37,374 16,619 13,263 

111,257 92,249 72,100 54,426 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (42,792) (42,683) (48,038) (48,328)

Net current assets 68,465 49,566 24,062 6,098 

Total assets less current liabilities 1,342,488 1,342,102 1,243,248 1,243,165 

Creditors: amounts falling due after  
more than one year

Other creditors 17 (958,118) (959,456) (887,070) (888,252)
Other provisions 20 (67,560) (67,560) (57,848) (57,848)
Pension liability 21 (25,331) (25,331) (26,837) (26,837)

(1,051,009) (1,052,347) (971,755) (972,937)

Net assets 291,479 289,755 271,493 270,228 

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22  -    -    -    -   
Revenue reserve 23 291,479 289,755 271,493 270,228 

Total funds 291,479 289,755 271,493 270,228 

bpha Group Statement of Financial Position 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Kevin Bolt   
Chief Executive Officer 

Julian Pearce 
Chief Financial Officer

Philippa Spratley    
Company Secretary
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Chief Executive Officer 

Julian Pearce 
Chief Financial Officer

Philippa Spratley    
Company Secretary
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NoteNote

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus for the yearSurplus for the year aa 19,986 19,986 19,527 19,527 34,740 34,740 34,643 34,643 

Adjustments for:Adjustments for:

Depreciation and impairmentDepreciation and impairment 18,940 18,940 18,940 18,940 19,124 19,124 19,124 19,124 

Cost of Fixed Asset SoldCost of Fixed Asset Sold 9,647 9,647 9,647 9,647 12,768 12,768 12,768 12,768 

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assetsProceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets (18,536)(18,536) (18,536)(18,536) (23,694)(23,694) (23,694)(23,694)

1st Tranche Shared Ownership surplus1st Tranche Shared Ownership surplus (10,346)(10,346) (10,346)(10,346) (12,816)(12,816) (12,816)(12,816)

Change in value of investment propertyChange in value of investment property (863)(863) (863)(863) (3,935)(3,935) (3,935)(3,935)

Interest receivable and similar incomeInterest receivable and similar income (710)(710) (648)(648) (817)(817) (642)(642)

Interest payable and similar chargesInterest payable and similar charges 32,434 32,434 32,434 32,434 34,171 34,171 34,171 34,171 

Movement in fair value of financial instrumentsMovement in fair value of financial instruments 9,712 9,712 9,712 9,712 796 796 796 796 

Internal Development On-CostsInternal Development On-Costs (3,698)(3,698) (3,698)(3,698) (3,056)(3,056) (3,056)(3,056)

Amortisation of government grantAmortisation of government grant (382)(382) (382)(382) (256)(256) (256)(256)

bb 36,198 36,198 36,260 36,260 22,285 22,285 22,460 22,460 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors(Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors (1,278)(1,278) (81)(81) 3,367 3,367 1,639 1,639 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other creditors(Decrease)/increase in trade and other creditors 4,103 4,103 3,788 3,788 (422)(422) (486)(486)

(Decrease)/increase pension liability provision(Decrease)/increase pension liability provision (327)(327) (327)(327) 58 58 58 58 

cc 2,498 2,498 3,380 3,380 3,0033,003  1,211 1,211 

Net cash from operating activities d=a+b+cd=a+b+c 58,682 58,682 59,167 59,167 60,028 60,028 58,314 58,314 

Group Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

NoteNote

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Cash flows from investing activities
Disposal of tangible fixed assetsDisposal of tangible fixed assets 18,536 18,536 18,536 18,536 23,694 23,694 23,694 23,694 

Proceeds from sale of 1st Tranche Shared OwnershipProceeds from sale of 1st Tranche Shared Ownership 23,293 23,293 23,293 23,293 25,807 25,807 25,807 25,807 

Investment in subsidiariesInvestment in subsidiaries  -  -  -  - -   -   (8,500)(8,500)

Investment in joint arrangementsInvestment in joint arrangements 3,011 3,011 -   -   2,475 2,475 -   -   

Interest receivedInterest received 710 710 648 648 817 817 641 641 

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets (Non Property)Acquisition of tangible fixed assets (Non Property) (2,170)(2,170) (2,170)(2,170) (2,033)(2,033) (2,032)(2,032)

Capitalised repairs of housing propertiesCapitalised repairs of housing properties (14,063)(14,063) (14,063)(14,063) (14,127)(14,127) (14,127)(14,127)

Purchase and development of housing propertiesPurchase and development of housing properties (84,061)(84,061) (81,563)(81,563) (123,295)(123,295) (111,685)(111,685)

Proceeds from the receipt of government grantsProceeds from the receipt of government grants 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,410 1,272 1,272 1,272 1,272 

Net cash from investing activities ee (53,334)(53,334) (53,909)(53,909) (85,390)(85,390) (84,930)(84,930)

                                                        

Cash flows from financing activitiesCash flows from financing activities

Net movement on borrowingsNet movement on borrowings 67,931 67,931 67,302 67,302 58,445 58,445 58,901 58,901 

Interest paidInterest paid (38,734)(38,734) (37,952)(37,952) (35,641)(35,641) (35,185)(35,185)

Mark To Market Collateral MovementMark To Market Collateral Movement (9,300)(9,300) (9,300)(9,300) 350 350 350 350 

Net cash withdrawal from short term deposits and investmentsNet cash withdrawal from short term deposits and investments (18)(18) (18)(18) (15)(15) (15)(15)

Defined benefit contributions (1,179)(1,179) (1,179)(1,179) (1,154)(1,154) (1,154)(1,154)

Net cash from financing activities ff 18,700 18,700 18,853 18,853 21,985 21,985 22,897 22,897 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalentsNet increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents g=d+e+fg=d+e+f 24,048 24,048 24,111 24,111 (3,377)(3,377) (3,719)(3,719)

Cash and cash equivalents b/fCash and cash equivalents b/f 16,619 16,619 13,263 13,263 19,996 19,996 16,982 16,982 

Cash and cash equivalents c/f 2727 40,667 40,667 37,374 37,374 16,619 16,619 13,263 13,263 

Group Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (continued)
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1. Legal Status
bpha Limited (the association) is registered under the 
Cooperative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 
Register (No:26751R) and is registered with the Regulator 
of Social Housing (RSH) (No:LH 3887) as a social landlord. 
It is a public benefit entity.

2. Principal Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation
The association is the ultimate parent undertaking  
for the group and has prepared consolidated financial 
statements as there are two subsidiaries, bpha Finance 
plc and Bushmead Homes Limited, that are considered 
to be material components of the Group. The group 
financial statements consolidate the accounts of the 
association and all of its subsidiaries at 31 March 2020.

Subsidiary financial statements are prepared for the same 
reporting periods as the association, using consistent 
accounting policies. Intra-group balances and transactions, 
including unrealised profits arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of the group and association 
are prepared under the historical cost convention and, in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 
102) which is the applicable financial reporting standard 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland and the Statement 
of Recommended Practice: Accounting by Registered 
Social Housing Providers Update 2018 (SORP 2018), 
and comply with the Accounting Direction for Private 
Registered Providers of Social Housing 2019.

As required in the updates to the FRS, SORP and 
Accounting Direction, operating surplus now includes any 
profit or loss on the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets. Any future profit 
or loss on the disposal of a discontinued operation would 
be excluded from operating surplus and explanations of the 
discontinuation would be made in the notes to the accounts.

Going Concern
The group’s business plan demonstrates ongoing short, 
medium and long-term viability and includes detailed 
sensitivity and stress testing. The group and association 
have significant financial resources and as at 31 March 
2020 our liquidity headroom increased to £298m. 

Operational cash flows are strong and have proved 
resilient to economic and regulatory factors, including 
the impact of the Governmental restrictions put in 

place in March to mitigate the Covid-19 pandemic. The 
group and association have prepared specific forecasts 
and projections modelling the potential impact on the 
business due to Covid-19 which include delays to rent 
collections and a resulting increase in bad debts, reduced 
sales income, and deferred development of new homes. 
Further stress testing has included two key sensitivities:

•  additional delays to sales income of 3 months; and
• volume reduction in sales of 33%

After having reviewed the group and association’s 
forecasts and projections, the Board has a reasonable 
expectation that the group and association have 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for a period of 12 months from the date of approval 
of the financial statements. The group and association 
therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing these financial statements.

Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the financial statements management have 
made a number of judgements and estimates in relation 
to the treatment of certain items, which include:

Capitalisation of property development and other 
costs: distinguishing the point at which a potential 
property development project is more likely than not 
to go ahead. This forms the basis for capitalisation of 
associated development and other costs.

Allocation of costs for mixed tenure developments: 
costs incurred in the development of schemes are 
usually directly attributable to specific tenures in line 
with contractual agreements. In cases where total 
scheme costs have to be allocated between tenures, this 
is done on a per-unit basis.

Financial instruments: determining the categorisation 
of financial instruments as basic or other and, if hedge 
effective, whether or not to adopt hedge accounting.

Useful lives of depreciable assets: fixed assets are 
depreciated over their useful lives taking into account 
estimated residual values. Further details are set out  
in the accounting policy notes below.

Impairment: details of judgements in relation to 
impairment are set out in the accounting policy note below.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Group Note

Called up  
share capital

£’000

Revenue  
reserve

£’000

Total  
equity
£’000

Balance at 31 March 2018  -   236,753 236,753 

Total comprehensive income for the 2018/19 year
Surplus for the year  -   34,129 34,129 

Actuarial gains on pension scheme  -   611 611 

Balance at 31 March 2019 23  -   271,493 271,493 

  

Total comprehensive income for the 2019/20 year
Surplus for the year  -   18,015 18,015 

Actuarial gains on pension scheme  -   1,971 1,971 

Balance at 31 March 2020 23  -   291,479 291,479 

  

Association Note

Called up  
share capital

£’000

Revenue  
reserve

£’000

Total  
equity
£’000

Balance at 31 March 2018  -   235,585 235,585 

Total comprehensive income for the 2018/19 year
Surplus for the year  -   34,032 34,032 

Actuarial gains on pension scheme  -    611  611 

Balance at 31 March 2019 23  -   270,228 270,228 

Total comprehensive income for the 2019/20 year
Surplus for the year  -   17,556 17,556 

Actuarial gains on pension scheme  -   1,971 1,971 

Balance at 31 March 2020 23  -   289,755 289,755 

bpha Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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In certain areas, in exercising judgement or making 
estimates, management have taken account of the advice 
of independent qualified parties who provide technical 
expertise and/or valuations. In the event that management 
feel it appropriate to apply a different valuation to that  
of the independent advisors then attention will be drawn  
to this within the financial statements.

Key areas where management take account  
of independent third-party advice in determining 
valuations include the following:

• investment properties – refer to note 13 
• financial instruments – refer to note 20 
• pension costs and fund valuation – refer to note 21

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the association’s assets, other 
than investment property, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater 
of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Additionally, because the association’s assets 
are held for their service potential, the depreciated 
replacement cost is also considered as part of the 
impairment review. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or  
groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”).

The calculation of the recoverable amount for impairment 
testing, including the depreciated replacement cost  
of housing properties held for social benefit, is an 
accounting estimate that may have a significant risk  
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Joint Arrangements
Joint arrangements are those contractual undertakings 
in which the group exercises joint control over the 
operating and financial policies of the arrangement. 
Where the joint arrangement is carried out through  
a legal entitiy, it is treated as a jointly controlled entity. 
Joint arrangements are held as fixed asset investments, 
shown at cost, less any amounts written-off.

Where the group has entered into a contractual 
arrangement that is classed as a jointly controlled entity, 
the jointly controlled entity is accounted for using the 
equity method, which reflects the group’s share of the 
profit or loss, other comprehensive income and equity  
of the jointly controlled entity.

Turnover
Turnover comprises rental and service charge income 
receivable (net of void losses), first tranche sales  
of shared ownership properties, sales of properties 
built for sale, supporting people income, fees, and other 
services included at the invoiced value (excluding VAT 
where applicable) of goods and services supplied in 
the year, amortisation of deferred capital grants, and 
other revenue grants receivable. It also includes, in 
accordance with FRS 102, amortisation of Social Housing 
Grant (SHG) by applying the accrual model such that 
deferred grant income is released as income over the 
life of the asset. Revenue grants are recognised when 
the conditions for receipt of agreed grant funding have 
been met.

Rental income is recognised from the point when 
properties under development reach practical completion 
or otherwise become available for letting. Income 
from property sales is recognised at the point of legal 
completion of the sale.

Cost of Sales
Included within operating costs are costs relating to newly 
developed properties sold in the year. These costs include 
expenditure incurred during the course of development 
of those properties, including capitalised interest, direct 
overheads, marketing and other incidental costs incurred 
during the course of sale of those properties.

Improvements to Existing Properties
The amount of expenditure incurred which relates to an 
improvement, which is defined as delivering an increase 
in the net rental stream or the life of a component, is 
capitalised. Expenditure incurred on other major repairs, 
cyclical and day-to-day repairs to housing properties is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which it is incurred.

Leased Assets 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight 
line basis over the lease term. The aggregate benefits 
of lease incentives are recognised as a reduction to the 
expense recognised over the lease term on a straight 
line basis. 

Value Added Tax
The association charges Value Added Tax (VAT) on 
some of its income and is able to recover part of the VAT 
it incurs on expenditure. The Statement of Comprehensive 
Income includes VAT to the extent that this is suffered by 
the association and not recoverable from HM Revenue  
& Customs.

Interest Payable
Interest payable is capitalised on borrowings to finance 
developments to the extent that it accrues in respect 
of the period of development. Capitalised interest is 
calculated on borrowings of the association as a whole 
to the extent that they can be deemed to be financing 
the development programme. Other interest payable is 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the year.

Corporation Tax 
The association has charitable status and is not subject 
to Corporation Tax on surpluses arising as a result of,  
or earned in furtherance of, its charitable objectives.

The association is considered to pass the tests set out in 
Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and therefore 
it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK 
Corporation Tax purposes. Accordingly, the association 
is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income 
or capital gains received within categories covered by 
Chapter 3 Part 11 Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 
256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the 
extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively 
to charitable purposes.

The association has a number of subsidary companies, 
some of which do not have charitable status and which 
therefore are subject to Corporation Tax. For these 
entities, the charge for Corporation Tax is based on the 
result for the period and takes into account deferred 
taxation. Deferred taxation is provided on differences 
between the treatment of certain items for taxation 
and accounting purposes, unless it is probable that the 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Housing Properties and Other Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes the cost of acquiring land and buildings, 
directly attributable development costs, interest at the 
average cost of borrowing for the development period, 
and expenditure incurred in respect of improvements. 
Improvements are works which result in an increase 
in the net rental income, such as a reduction in future 
maintenance costs, or result in a significant extension  
of the useful economic life of the property in the business. 
Only the direct overhead costs associated with new 
developments or improvements are capitalised.

Housing properties are principally properties available for 
rent and properties subject to shared ownership leases.

Properties under construction are stated at cost within fixed 
assets and are transferred into housing properties when 
completed. The costs of shared ownership properties under 
construction are split proportionately between current and 
fixed assets; the proportion relating to expected first tranche 
sales is classed as a current asset and the remaining 
element is classed as a fixed asset which is transferred into 
housing properties when completed.

Land donated by local authorities and others is added to 
cost at the market value of the land at the time of donation.

Depreciation
The association separately identifies the major components 
which comprise its housing properties and charges 
depreciation so as to write down the cost of each 
component to its estimated residual value on a straight line 
basis over its estimated useful life. The group believes that 
the lives used are reasonable based on their experience. 
The most material assumption is the lives of housing 
property components: these were determined in 2010 when 
component accounting was first adopted and are reviewed 
periodically. Where a component is replaced, any residual 
carrying value is fully written off in the year of replacement, 
and the cost of the replacement component is capitalised.

Care Home properties are depreciated over the length of 
the related lease agreements.

Major components are treated as separable assets and 
depreciated over their expected useful economic lives as 
detailed below:

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Furniture and equipment are depreciated on a straight line 
basis over the expected economic useful lives of the assets, 
which range between two and ten years. Long leasehold 
offices are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Short leasehold offices are depreciated on a straight 
line basis over the life of the lease

Assets Years

Structure 100
Kitchens 20
Bathrooms 30
Heating Systems – Boilers 12
Heating Systems – Radiators 30
Roofs 60
Windows and Doors 30
Electrics 30
Lift – Refurbishment 20
Lift – Renewal 60
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change 
since the last annual reporting date in the pattern by which 
the group expects to consume an asset’s future economic 
benefits.

Investment Properties
Investment properties consist of commercial properties 
and other properties not held for social benefit or for use  
in the business. Investment properties are measured  
at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value  
at the year end date, with changes in fair value recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Fair value is 
determined annually by appropriately qualified external 
valuers and is derived from current market rents and 
investment property yields for comparable properties, 
adjusted if necessary for any difference in the nature, 
location or condition of the specific asset. No depreciation 
is provided on investment properties.

Concessionary Loans
A concessionary loan is a loan made or received between  
a public benefit entity or an entity within a public benefit 
entity group and another party:

(a) at below the prevailing market rate of interest;
(b) that is not repayable on demand; and
(c)  is for the purposes of furthering the objectives of the 

public benefit entity or public benefit entity parent.

These loans are measured at the amount advanced  
at the inception of the loan less amounts received  
and any provisions for impairment. Any associated 
grant is recognised as deferred income until the loan  
is redeemed.

The association has a number of arrangements that  
are considered to be concessionary loans:

HomeBuy and other similar schemes - Under a HomeBuy 
scheme, the association received a HomeBuy grant 
representing a percentage of the open market purchase 
price of a property in order to advance interest free or low 
interest loans to a homebuyer. The loans advanced by the 
association meet the definition of concessionary loans and 
are shown as fixed assets investments on the Statement 
of Financial Position. The HomeBuy grant provided by the 
Government to fund all or part of a HomeBuy loan has 
been classified as a deferred income creditor, due in more 
than one year.

In the event that the property is sold, the association 
recovers the equivalent loaned percentage value of the 
property at the time of the sale. The grant is reclassified 
to Recycled Capital Grant Fund when the loans are 
redeemed up to the amount of the original grant and to 
the extent the proceeds permit. The association is able  

to retain any surplus proceeds less sale costs attributable 
to the equivalent loaned percentage share of the value  
of the property. If there is a fall in the value of the 
property the shortfall of proceeds is offset against the 
grant creditor.

Rent and service charge agreements – The association 
has made arrangement with individuals and households 
for arrears payments of rent and service charges. 
These arrangements are effectively loans granted at nil 
interest rate.

Properties for Sale
Properties held for sale including shared ownership 
properties and property under construction are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 
materials, direct labour and direct development overheads. 
Net realisable value is based on estimated sales price after 
allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal.

Basic Financial Instruments
Tenant arrears, trade and other debtors - Recognised 
initially at transaction price. Tenants and other debtors that 
are collected through the administration of payment plans 
or over an agreed finite period of time are discounted 
to determine their net present value with a subsequent 
impairment evaluation undertaken and resultant impact 
recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Trade and other creditors - Recognised initially  
at transaction price. If the arrangement constitutes  
a financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred 
beyond normal business terms, then it is measured at the 
present value of future payments discounted at a market 
rate for a similar debt instrument.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as basic 
financial instruments - Recognised initially at fair 
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method, less any impairment losses. Where the group 
has incurred a premium or discount on its bond issues, 
the balance is shown net against the associated bond 
liability and is charged over the term of the debt using 
the effective interest rate method.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities  
and associates - Recognised at transaction price 
including attributable transaction costs.

Cash and cash equivalents - Comprise cash balances 
and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable  
on demand and form an integral part of the group’s 
cash management are included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the 
cash flow statement.

Current Asset Investments
Current asset investments are stated at market  
value and include mark to market collateral deposits 
and investments.

Liquid Resources
Liquid resources are readily disposable current asset 
investments. They include some money market deposits 
held for more than 24 hours that can only be withdrawn, 
without penalty, on maturity or by giving notice of more 
than one working day.

Social Housing and Other Grant
Social housing grants received in relation to assets that 
are presented at deemed cost at the date of transition  
to FRS 102 have been accounted for using the 
performance model as required by SORP. In applying 
this model, such grant has been presented as if it were 
originally recognised as income within the Statement  
of Comprehensive Income in the year it was receivable 
and is therefore included within brought forward reserves.

Social housing grants received since the transition date in 
relation to newly acquired or existing housing properties 
is accounted for using the accrual model set out in FRS 
102 and SORP. Grant is carried as deferred income in the 
Statement of Financial Position and released as income 
within the Statement of Comprehensive Income account 
on a systematic basis over the useful economic lives  
of the assets for which it was received. In accordance with 
SORP, the useful economic life of the housing property 
structure has been selected (see table of useful economic 
lives above).

Where a social housing grant funded property is sold, the 
grant becomes recyclable and is transferred to a Recycled 
Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) or Disposal Proceeds Fund 
(DPF) until it is reinvested in a replacement property or 
repaid. If there is no requirement to recycle or repay the 
grant on disposal of the assets, any unamortised grant 
remaining within creditors is released and recognised as 
income within the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Other grants include grants from local authorities and 
other organisations. Grants relating to revenue are 
recognised as income in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the same period as the expenditure to which 
they relate once performance related conditions have 
been met.

Grants due from government organisations or received 
in advance are included as current assets or liabilities.

Deferred Income
Deferred income comprises both premiums on leases 
which are released over the life of the lease and other 
income received, such as unamortised grant, which is 
carried forward over the lives of the assets concerned.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position when the association has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, that 
can be reliably measured and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. Provisions are recognised at the best 
estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation 
at the reporting date.

The association’s receivables provision policy is based on 
review of the age profile of its debt, historical collection 
rates and the class of debt. Bad and doubtful debts are 
provided on all debtors’ arrears and are dependent on the 
status of the tenancy or debtor and on the age of the debt. 

Current tenant debtors are provided for at a level which 
is based on reviews of individual balances, while former 
tenants are provided for in full. Other debtors are 
reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

Other Financial Instruments and Hedging
The association uses interest rate swaps to reduce its 
exposure to future increases in interest rates on floating 
rate loans. Amounts payable and receivable in respect 
of these agreements are recognised as adjustments 
to interest payable over the period of the agreement. 
These interest rate swaps are classified either as basic 
or other financial instruments in accordance with the 
requirements of FRS 102.

Other financial instruments are initially recognised at 
fair value on the date on which the derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
fair value at each reporting date. The group considers 
whether each individual derivative contract is hedge 
effective. If it is hedge effective, the group considers 
whether or not to hedge account for the derivative 
contract according to business circumstances and 
then applies this consistently in successive years over 
the life of the contract. To the extent that a derivative 
is not hedge effective, or the group chooses not to 
hedge account, the gain or loss on remeasurement to 
fair value is recognised immediately in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Derivatives are carried as 
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities 
when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of derivatives is disclosed in Note 20.
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Pension Costs
The association operates a defined benefit pension scheme  
which closed to new members from 31 March 2010.

The assets of the closed scheme are invested and 
managed independently to the finances of the group. 
These pension scheme assets are measured using market 
values and pension scheme liabilities are measured using 
a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate 
of return on a high-quality corporate bond of equivalent 
term and currency to the liability. In accordance with FRS 
102 section 28, the pension scheme surplus (to the extent 
that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full. The 
movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between 
operating charges, finance items and, in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, actuarial gains and losses.

Pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice 
of independent qualified actuaries. Costs include the 
regular cost of providing benefits which, it is intended, 
should remain a substantially level percentage of the 
current and expected future earnings of the employees 
covered. Variations from the regular pension costs are 
spread evenly through the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income over the average remaining service lives of the 
current employees.
There are a number of critical underlying assumptions 
when measuring the defined benefit scheme, including 
standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rates 
and anticipation of future salaries. Variation in these 
assumptions may significantly impact the defined benefit 
obligation and annual expense. These assumptions and 
calculations are prepared by an independent actuary.

These actuarial assumptions may have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year. Refer to Note 21 for the valuation of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme deficit funding contributions 
and valuations of defined benefit assets/liabilities.

Since 1 April 2010 a defined contribution scheme has been 
available to employees. The charge to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income which represents the association’s 
contribution to the scheme for the accounting period  
is detailed in the notes to the financial statements.

Other Employee Benefits
The policy of the association is to recognise the cost  
of all employee benefits to which employees have 
become entitled as a result of service rendered during 
the reporting year.

Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability is either a possible but uncertain 
obligation as a result of a past event, or present obligation 
that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

*  it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources 
will be required; or

*  the amount of the obligation cannot be measured  
with sufficient reliability.

The association’s policy is not to provide for contingent 
liabilities. Full disclosure of any contingent liabilities is 
made within the financial statements.

Capital Commitments
These are predominantly commitments towards 
developments which have been contracted and which 
have started on site, or which have been approved by 
the association’s Board.

Segmental reporting 
For the purpose of segmental reporting, the chief 
operating decision maker (CODM) is considered to be 
the Board. In line with the segments reported to the 
CODM, the presentation of these financial statements and 
accompanied notes are in accordance with the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 
2019 and is considered appropriate. Information about 
income, expenditure and assets attributable to material 
operating segments are presented on the basis of the 
nature and function of housing assets held by the group. 
This is appropriate on the basis of the similarity of the 
services provided, the nature of the risks associated, the  
type and class of customer and the nature of the regulatory 
environment in which the group operates. Refer to Note 
3 for further disclosed information.

UnitsUnits

20202020
TurnoverTurnover

£’000£’000

Cost  Cost  
of Salesof Sales

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
costscosts
£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
disposalsdisposals

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
investmentinvestment

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplussurplus

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplus  surplus  

%%

-- --

Social housing lettings  18,188  18,188 93,942 93,942 -- (57,075)(57,075) -- -- 36,867 36,867 39.2%39.2%

Pension adjustments (McCloud) -- (390)(390) -- -- (390)(390)

Total social housing lettings 93,942 93,942 -   -   (57,465)(57,465) -   -   -   -   36,477 36,477 

Other social housing activities
Management feesManagement fees 223 -- -- -- -- 223 223 

First tranche shared ownership salesFirst tranche shared ownership sales 23,293 (12,946)(12,946) (762)(762) -- -- 9,585 9,585 

Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents)Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents) 3,420 3,420 -- (1,817)(1,817) -- -- 1,603 1,603 

Total other social housing activities 26,936 (12,946)(12,946) (2,579)(2,579) -   -   -   -   11,411 11,411 

Total social housing activities 120,878 120,878 (12,946)(12,946) (60,044)(60,044) -   -   -   -   47,888 47,888 

Activities other than social housing activities
Non social housing activitiesNon social housing activities  1,047  1,047 5,376 5,376 -- (2,177)(2,177) -- -- 3,199 3,199 

Profit on disposal of fixed assetsProfit on disposal of fixed assets 18,534 -- (444)(444) (9,660)(9,660) -- 8,430 8,430 

Valuation gain on investment properties -- -- -- 863 863 863 863 

Total actvities other than social  
housing activities 23,910 -   -   (2,621)(2,621) (9,660)(9,660) 863 863 12,492 12,492 

Total social and non social activities  19,235  19,235 144,788 (12,946)(12,946) (62,665)(62,665) (9,660)(9,660) 863 863 60,380 60,380 

Capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets (18,534)(18,534) -   -   -   -   18,534 18,534 -   -   -   -   

Adjusted social and non social activities 126,254 126,254 (12,946)(12,946) (62,665)(62,665) 8,874 8,874 863 863 60,380 60,380 47.8%47.8%

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Group  3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Group  
Year ended 31 March 2020Year ended 31 March 2020

Our business performance, as presented in our Operating and Financial Review, makes reference Our business performance, as presented in our Operating and Financial Review, makes reference 
to our Development and Sales business which comprises asset and first tranche sales. The capital to our Development and Sales business which comprises asset and first tranche sales. The capital 
receipts for asset sales are included as revenue for this business in line with our treatment for first receipts for asset sales are included as revenue for this business in line with our treatment for first 
tranche shared ownership sales. For clarity, therefore, this treatment is reflected in the table above tranche shared ownership sales. For clarity, therefore, this treatment is reflected in the table above 
by including the capital receipts in the turnover column under the heading of ‘profit on disposal by including the capital receipts in the turnover column under the heading of ‘profit on disposal 
of fixed assets’. Capital receipts are then removed at the bottom of the table, under the heading of fixed assets’. Capital receipts are then removed at the bottom of the table, under the heading 
of ‘capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets’ to reconcile to our turnover as presented in the of ‘capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets’ to reconcile to our turnover as presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income.statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

UnitsUnits

20192019
TurnoverTurnover

£’000£’000

Cost  Cost  
of Salesof Sales

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
costscosts
£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
disposalsdisposals

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
investmentinvestment

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplussurplus

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplus surplus 

%%

Social housing lettings  17,694  17,694 89,439 89,439 -   -   (52,171)(52,171) -- -- 37,268 37,268 41.7%41.7%

Other social housing activities
Management feesManagement fees 159 -- -- -- -- 159 159 

First tranche shared ownership salesFirst tranche shared ownership sales 25,807 (12,992) (493)(493) -- -- 12,322 12,322 

Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents)Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents) 4,021 -- (2,919) -- -- 1,102 1,102 

Total other social housing activities 29,987 (12,992) (3,412) - - -   -   13,583 13,583 

Total social housing activities 119,426 (12,992) (55,583) -   -   -   50,851 50,851 

Activities other than social housing activities
Non social housing activitiesNon social housing activities  1,027  1,027 5,103 -- (2,437) -- -- 2,666 2,666 

Profit on disposal of fixed assetsProfit on disposal of fixed assets 23,694 23,694 -- (435)(435) (12,768) -- 10,491 10,491 

Valuation gain on investment propertiesValuation gain on investment properties -- -- -- 3,935 3,935 3,935 3,935 

Total activities other than social  
housing activities 28,797 -   (2,872) (12,768) 3,935 3,935 17,092 17,092 

  

Total social and non social activities 18,72118,721 148,223 (12,992) (58,455) (12,768) 3,935 67,943 

Capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets (23,694) - - 23,694 - -

Adjusted social and non social activities 124,529 (12,992) (58,455) 10,926 3,935 67,943 54.6%

3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Group  3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Group  
Year ended 31 March 2019Year ended 31 March 2019

The format of the prior year comparative has been amended to show surplus The format of the prior year comparative has been amended to show surplus 
on disposal and valuation gain in line with current reporting requirements.on disposal and valuation gain in line with current reporting requirements.

UnitsUnits

20202020
TurnoverTurnover

£’000£’000

Cost  Cost  
of Salesof Sales

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
costscosts
£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
disposalsdisposals

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
investmentinvestment

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplussurplus

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplus surplus 

%%

Social housing lettings  18,188  18,188 93,942 93,942 -   -   (57,024)(57,024) -   -   -   -   36,918 36,918 39.3%39.3%

Pension adjustments (McCloud)       -   -   (390)(390) -   -   -   -   (390)(390)

Total social housing lettings 93,942 93,942 -   -   (57,414)(57,414) -   -   -   -   36,528 36,528 

Other social housing activities
Management feesManagement fees 223 223 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   223 223 

First tranche shared ownership salesFirst tranche shared ownership sales 23,293 23,293 (12,946)(12,946) (762)(762) -   -   -   -   9,585 9,585 

Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents)Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents) 3,420 3,420 -   -   (1,817)(1,817) -   -   -   -   1,603 1,603 

Total other social housing activities 26,936 26,936 (12,946)(12,946) (2,579)(2,579) -   -   -   -   11,411 11,411 

Total social housing activities 120,878 120,878 (12,946)(12,946) (59,993)(59,993) -   -   -   -   47,939 47,939 

Activities other than social housing activities
Non social housing activitiesNon social housing activities  1,047  1,047 4,296 4,296 -   -   (2,177)(2,177) -   -   -   -   2,119 2,119 

Profit on disposal of fixed assetsProfit on disposal of fixed assets 18,534 18,534 -   -   (444)(444) (9,660)(9,660) -   -   8,430 8,430 

Valuation gain on investment properties       -   -   -   -   -   -   863 863 863 863 

Total activities other than social  
housing activities 22,830 22,830 -   -   (2,621)(2,621) (9,660)(9,660) 863 863 11,412   11,412   

Total housing activities  19,235  19,235 143,708 143,708 (12,946)(12,946) (62,614)(62,614) (9,660)(9,660) 863 863 59,351 59,351 

Capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets (18,534)(18,534) -   -   -   -   18,534 18,534 -   -   -   -   

Adjusted social and non social activities 125,174 125,174 (12,946)(12,946) (62,614)(62,614) 8,874 8,874 863 863 59,351 59,351 47.4%47.4%

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Association 3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Association 
Year ended 31 March 2020Year ended 31 March 2020
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UnitsUnits

20192019
TurnoverTurnover

£’000£’000

Cost  Cost  
of Salesof Sales

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
costscosts
£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
disposalsdisposals

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
investmentinvestment

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplussurplus

£’000£’000

Operating Operating 
surplus surplus 

%%

Social housing lettings  17,694 89,439 89,439 - (52,361)(52,361) -- -- 37,078 37,078 41.5%41.5%

Other social housing activities
Management fees 159 -- -- -- -- 159 

First tranche shared ownership sales 25,807 (12,992) (493)(493) -- -- 12,322 

Other (including Homebuy and Help to Buy Agents) 4,134 -- (2,452) -- -- 1,682 

Total other social housing activities 30,100 (12,992) (2,945) -   -   -   -   14,163 

Total social housing activities 119,539 (12,992) (55,306) -   -   51,241 

Activities other than social housing activities
Non social housing activities  1,027 4,249 -- (2,436) -- -- 1,813 

Profit on disposal of fixed assets 23,694 23,694 -- (435)(435) (12,768) -- 10,491 

Valuation gain on investment properties -- -- -- 3,935 3,935 

Total activities other than social  
housing activities 27,943 -   (2,871) (12,768) 3,935 16,239 

Total housing activities  18,721 147,482147,482 (12,992)(12,992) (58,177)(58,177) (12,768)(12,768) 3,935 67,480

Capital receipts from disposal of fixed assets (23,694) - - 23,694 - -

Adjusted social and non social activities 123,788 (12,992) (58,177) 10,926 3,935 67,480 54.5%

The format of the prior year comparative has been amended to show surplus The format of the prior year comparative has been amended to show surplus 
on disposal and valuation gain in line with current reporting requirements.on disposal and valuation gain in line with current reporting requirements.

3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Association 3:  Turnover, Operating Costs and Operating Surplus – Association 
Year ended 31 March 2019Year ended 31 March 2019

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

General General 
HousingHousing

Low cost Low cost 
home home 

ownershipownership
Supported Supported 

HousingHousing
Residential Residential 

Care HomesCare Homes OthersOthers 20202020 20192019

Units  11,775  11,775  2,825  2,825  1,298  1,298  907  907  1,383  1,383  18,188  18,188  17,694  17,694 

£'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000

Income from social housing lettings
Rent receivable net of identifiable service chargesRent receivable net of identifiable service charges 65,255 65,255 9,494 9,494 6,823 6,823 4,338 4,338 53 53 85,963 85,963 81,902 81,902 

Charges for support servicesCharges for support services -- -- 113 113 -- -- 113 113 136 136 

Service Charge IncomeService Charge Income 3,156 3,156 1,215 1,215 2,640 2,640 -- 473 473 7,484 7,484 7,123 7,123 

Net rents receivable 68,411 68,411 10,709 10,709 9,576 9,576 4,338 4,338 526 526 93,560 93,560 89,161 89,161 

Revenue grants from local authorities  
and other agencies 382 382 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   382 382 278 278 

Total income from social housing lettings 68,793 68,793 10,709 10,709 9,576 9,576 4,338 4,338 526 526 93,942 93,942 89,439 89,439 

Expenditure on letting activities
Management costManagement cost (15,022)(15,022) (3,605)(3,605) (1,655)(1,655) -- -- (20,282)(20,282) (16,760)(16,760)

Pension adjustments (McCloud) (289)(289) (69)(69) (32)(32) -- -- (390)(390) -   -   

Total management cost (15,311)(15,311) (3,674)(3,674) (1,687)(1,687) -- -- (20,672)(20,672) (16,760)(16,760)

Service charge cost (4,895)(4,895) (1,174)(1,174) (540)(540) -- (473)(473) (7,082)(7,082) (5,933)(5,933)

Routine Maintenance (7,172)(7,172) -- (791)(791) -- -- (7,962)(7,962) (7,355)(7,355)

Planned maintenance (3,711)(3,711) -- (409)(409) -- -- (4,120)(4,120) (3,673)(3,673)

Rent losses from bad debts (641)(641) (154)(154) (71)(71) -- -- (866)(866) (1,131)(1,131)

Depreciation (12,285)(12,285) (1,354)(1,354) (3,124)(3,124) -- (16,763)(16,763) (17,319)(17,319)

Total expenditure on social housing lettings (44,015)(44,015) (5,002)(5,002) (4,852)(4,852) (3,124)(3,124) (473)(473) (57,465)(57,465) (52,171)(52,171)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 24,778 24,778 5,708 5,708 4,724 4,724 1,214 1,214 53 53 36,477 36,477 37,268 37,268 

Void losses (544)(544) (99)(99) (324)(324) -   -   (11)(11) (978)(978) (785)(785)

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

3:  Income and Expenditure from Social Housing Lettings – Group3:  Income and Expenditure from Social Housing Lettings – Group
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Analysis of movement 2019 to 2020Analysis of movement 2019 to 2020 20202020 20192019
Category Category 

changechange AdditionsAdditions DisposalDisposal
Total Total 

movementmovement

Owned - General 8,902 8,902 8,897 8,897 (3)(3) 11 11 (3)(3) 5 5 

Owned - Affordable 2,111 2,111 1,752 3 3 356 356 -   -   359 359 

Near market rentsNear market rents 410 410 403 (3)(3) 10 10 -   -   7 7 

Rent to HomeBuy 352 352 405 (53)(53) -   -   -   -   (53)(53)

General housing 11,775 11,775 11,457 (56)(56) 377 377 (3)(3) 318 318 

Shared ownershipShared ownership 2,624 2,624 2,278 165 165 227 227 (46)(46) 346 346 

Key worker - Shared ownership 201 201 205 -   -   -   -   (4)(4) (4)(4)

Shared ownership - Managed by others -   -   110 (110)(110) -   -   -   -   (110)(110)

Low cost home ownership 2,825 2,825 2,593 55 55 227 227 (50)(50) 232 232 

Owned - SupportedOwned - Supported 138 138 145 (11)(11) 4 4 -   -   (7)(7)

Owned - Supported - Managed by othersOwned - Supported - Managed by others 146 146 151 (5)(5) -   -   -   -   (5)(5)

Owned - Housing for older peopleOwned - Housing for older people 927 927 658 216 216 53 53 -   -   269 269 

Owned - Housing for older people - Managed by others 87 87 302 (215)(215) -   -   -   -   (215)(215)

Supported housing 1,298 1,298 1,256 (15)(15) 57 57 -   -   42 42 

Owned - Elderly residential care homes 907 907 953 -   -   -   -   (46)(46) (46)(46)

Residential care homes 907 907 953 -   -   -   -   (46)(46) (46)(46)

Owned - Students/Nurses 498 498 498 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Owned - Elderly nursing care homes 496 496 496 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Owned - Managed by others 2 2 2 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Commercial 51 51 31 16 16 6 6 (2)(2) 20 20 

Non-social 1,047 1,047 1,027 16 16 6 6 (2)(2) 20 20 

Total owned 17,852 17,852 17,286 -   -   667 667 (101)(101) 566 566 

Open Market HomeBuy 411 411 430 -   -   -   -   (19)(19) (19)(19)

MyChoice HomeBuy/Shared equity 303 303 342 -   -   -   -   (39)(39) (39)(39)

Leaseholders 626 626 622 (1)(1) 19 19 (14)(14) 4 4 

Leaseholders - reversionary interest 4 4 4 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   

Managed for others 39 39 37 1 1 1 1 -   -   2 2 

Others 1,383 1,383 1,435 -   -   20 20 (72)(72) (52)(52)

Total owned and in management 19,235 19,235 18,721 -   -   687 687 (173)(173) 514 514 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group 
is materially the same as association.is materially the same as association.

General General 
HousingHousing

Low cost Low cost 
home home 

ownershipownership
Supported Supported 

HousingHousing
Residential Residential 

Care HomesCare Homes OthersOthers 20202020 20192019

Units  11,775  11,775  2,825  2,825  1,298  1,298  907  907  1,383  1,383  18,188  18,188  17,694  17,694 

£'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000£'000 £'000

Income from social housing lettings
Rent receivable net of identifiable service chargesRent receivable net of identifiable service charges 65,255 65,255 9,494 9,494 6,823 6,823 4,338 4,338 53 53 85,963 85,963 81,902 

Charges for support servicesCharges for support services -   -   -   -   113 113 -   -   -   -   113 113 136 

Service Charge IncomeService Charge Income 3,156 3,156 1,215 1,215 2,640 2,640 -   -   473 473 7,484 7,484 7,123 

Net rents receivable 68,411 68,411 10,709 10,709 9,576 9,576 4,338 4,338 526 526 93,560 93,560 89,161 

Revenue grants from local authorities  
and other agencies 382 382 -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   382 382 278 

Total income from social housing lettings 68,793 68,793 10,709 10,709 9,576 9,576 4,338 4,338 526 526 93,942 93,942 89,439 

Expenditure on letting activities
Management costManagement cost (14,984)(14,984) (3,595)(3,595) (1,652)(1,652) (20,231)(20,231) (16,950)

Pension adjustments (McCloud) (289)(289) (69)(69) (32)(32) (390)(390) -   

Total management cost (15,273)(15,273) (3,664)(3,664) (1,684)(1,684) (20,621)(20,621) (16,950)

Service charge cost (4,895)(4,895) (1,174)(1,174) (540)(540) (473)(473) (7,082)(7,082) (5,933)

Routine Maintenance (7,171)(7,171) (791)(791) (7,962)(7,962) (7,355)

Planned maintenance (3,711)(3,711) (409)(409) (4,120)(4,120) (3,673)

Rent losses from bad debts (641)(641) (154)(154) (71)(71) (866)(866) (1,131)

Depreciation (12,285)(12,285) (1,354)(1,354) (3,124)(3,124) (16,763)(16,763) (17,319)

Total expenditure on social housing lettings (43,976)(43,976) (4,992)(4,992) (4,849)(4,849) (3,124)(3,124) (473)(473) (57,414)(57,414) (52,361)

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 24,817 24,817 5,717 5,717 4,727 4,727 1,214 1,214 53 53 36,528 36,528 37,078 

Void losses (544)(544) (99)(99) (324)(324) -   -   (11)(11) (978)(978) (785)

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

3:  Income and Expenditure from Social Housing Lettings – Association3:  Income and Expenditure from Social Housing Lettings – Association 4. Number of Units Owned and in Management4. Number of Units Owned and in Management
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Non-Executive DirectorsNon-Executive Directors
£’000£’000

SalariesSalaries
£’000£’000

ExpensesExpenses

2020 2020 
£’000£’000
TotalTotal

2019 2019 
£’000£’000
TotalTotal

Paul Leinster
 28  28  -    -    28  28  26  26 

Chair of the Board

Martin Hurst
 17  -    17  18 

Chair of the Group Treasury Committee

Ian Ailles
 23  1  24  24  18  18 

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee and Senior Independent DirectorChair of the Audit and Risk Committee and Senior Independent Director

Paul High
 17  3  20  20  18  18 

Chair of the Development and Assets Committee

Jill Ainscough
 9  -    9  9  17  17 

Chair of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee (retired 30 September 2019)

Shirley Pointer
 15  -    15  15  -  - Chair of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee from 01 October 2019 

(appointed 01 April 2019)

Cllr Shan Hunt
 2  -    2  2  11  11 

Independent Non-Executive Director (retired 31 May 2019)

Geraldine O’Sullivan
 12  -    12  12  -  - 

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 01 April 2019)Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 01 April 2019)

Bob Tattar
 8  -    8  8  -  - 

Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 01 October 2019)

Peter Male
 -    -    -    7 

Senior Independent Director (resigned 31 May 2018)

Grand Total  131  131  4  4  135  135  115  115 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

5. Non-executive Directors’ and Directors’ Emoluments
The board of directors of the association comprises of non-executive directors and executive directors together  
with co-opted members. Total emoluments in the period to 31 March 2020 for the non-executive directors amounted 
to £135k (2019: £115k).

In addition to the above, a total of £8k (2019: £14k) was paid to members of the Audit and Risk Committee and of the 
Group Treasury Committee who are not members of the bpha Board. These positions are paid annual remuneration 
of up to £4k per member. 

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same  
as association.

Board executive directorsBoard executive directors
Salary Salary 
£’000£’000

Benefits  Benefits  
in kind in kind 
 £’000 £’000

Pension Pension 
contributions contributions 

 £’000 £’000

2020 2020 
TotalTotal

£’000£’000

20192019
Total  Total  

£’000£’000

Kevin Bolt
 201  201  8  8  23  23  232  232  222  222 

Chief Executive

Julian Pearce
 78  3  -    81  -   

Chief Financial Officer (appointed 14 October 2019)

Paul Gray
 13  13  2  2  5  5  20  20  188  188 

Chief Financial Officer (resigned from Board 22 March 2019)Chief Financial Officer (resigned from Board 22 March 2019)

Julie Wittich
 125  125  7  7  26  26  158  158  156  156 

Executive Director of Assets

Jeff Astle
 141  141  7  7  8  8  156  156  153  153 

Executive Director of Development and Sales

Sub Total - Board Executive Directors 558558 2727 6262 647647 719719

Other executive directorsOther executive directors
Salary Salary 
£’000£’000

Benifits  Benifits  
in kind in kind 
 £’000 £’000

Pension Pension 
contributions contributions 

 £’000 £’000

2020 2020 
TotalTotal

£’000£’000

20192019
Total  Total  

£’000£’000

Anna Humphries
 112  112  7  7  13  13  131  131  92  92 

Director of Customers and Services (appointed 02July 2018)

Adrian Moore
 106  106  7  7  10  10  123  123  122  122 

Director of ITDirector of IT

Liz Parsons
 103  103  7  7  22  22  132  132  130  130 

Director Quality and Communications

Sub Total - Other Executive Directors  321  321  21  21  45  45 387387  344  344 

Grand Total 879 48 107 1,034 1,063

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

5. Non-executive Directors’ and Directors’ Emoluments (continued)

Kevin Bolt, who as Chief Executive, is the highest paid Director, is entitled to a contribution of 12% of basic 
salary to be paid into a defined contribution scheme. 

Paul Gray resigned on 22 March 2019 and left the business on 30 April 2019. In addition to the amounts 
above, a loss of office payment of £75k was paid at his time of leaving and this was provided for and 
disclosed in the 2018/19 accounts. From 1 April 2019 to 14 October 2019, Francesco Elia acted as Interim 
Chief Financial Officer; he was paid through his consultancy business and his remuneration was £121k.

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same 
as association.
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DepartmentDepartment FemaleFemale MaleMale
2020  2020  
TotalTotal FemaleFemale MaleMale

20192019
TotalTotal

Executive and Senior Management Team 19 19 10 29 29 17 9 9 26 26 

Development and Sales 65 65 42 107 107 65 36 36 101 101 

Finance and IT 41 41 30 71 71 36 37 37 73 73 

Quality and CommunicationsQuality and Communications 17 17 7 24 24 16 7 7 23 23 

Service Delivery 112 112 77 188 188 104 67 67 171 171 

HR and Governance 15 15 3 18 18 11 4 4 15 15 

269 269 169 169 438 438 248 248 160 160 408 408 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Full time equivalents are calculated based on a standard working week of 37 hours.Full time equivalents are calculated based on a standard working week of 37 hours.

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially  Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially  
the same as association.the same as association.

6. Employee Information
The number of persons expressed in full time equivalents employed at the year end was:

Employee costs (for the above persons)Employee costs (for the above persons)
20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Wages and salaries 14,661 14,661 13,377 

Social security costs 1,510 1,510 1,384 

Pension - defined benefit current service cost (note 21) 1,315 1,315 1,424 

Pension - defined benefit past service cost (McCloud) 390 -

Pension - defined contribution costPension - defined contribution cost 786 786 654 

18,662 18,662 16,839 

The full-time equivalent number of employees who receive remunerationThe full-time equivalent number of employees who receive remuneration 20202020 20192019

£60,001 to £70,000  18  18  12 

£70,001 to £80,000  13  13  13 

£80,001 to £90,000  9  9  5 

£90,001 to £100,000£90,001 to £100,000  4  4  5 

£100,001 to £110,000  1  1  -   

£110,001 to £120,000  -    -    -   

£120,001 to £130,000  1  1  -   

£130,001 to £140,000  -    -    1 

£140,001 to £150,000  1  1  -   

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Interest Receivable 179 179 162 162 113 113 113 113 

My Choice Home Buy Interest ReceivableMy Choice Home Buy Interest Receivable 486 486 486 486 530 530 530 530 

Interest receivable from joint ventureInterest receivable from joint venture 45 45 -   -   185 185 -   -   

710710 648648 828828 643643

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

7. Interest Receivable and Other Income

Included within the amounts disclosed above is interest receivable by Bushmead Homes Limited, Included within the amounts disclosed above is interest receivable by Bushmead Homes Limited, 
a fellow group company, of £45k (2019: £185k).a fellow group company, of £45k (2019: £185k).

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

On bonds, bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 36,54036,540 36,54036,540 35,26535,265 35,26535,265

Other Loan CostsOther Loan Costs 1,4331,433 1,4331,433 1,5901,590 1,5901,590

On defined benefit pension scheme (note 21)On defined benefit pension scheme (note 21) 621621 621621 710710 710710

Less: interest payable capitalised on housing properties under construction (5,231)(5,231) (5,231)(5,231) (3,719)(3,719) (3,719)(3,719)

33,36333,363 33,36333,363 33,84633,846 33,84633,846

Capitalisation rate used to determine finance costs capitalised during the period Capitalisation rate used to determine finance costs capitalised during the period 4.60%4.60% 4.60%4.60% 4.84% 4.84%

8. Interest Payable and Similar Charges

The number of employees (excluding directors) who receive remuneration on a full-time equivalent The number of employees (excluding directors) who receive remuneration on a full-time equivalent 
basis, including employer pension contribution, in excess of £60k are as follows:basis, including employer pension contribution, in excess of £60k are as follows:

The prior year has been restated to bring it into line with current year presentation.The prior year has been restated to bring it into line with current year presentation.
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20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

Surplus on ordinary activities is stated after charging:

Depreciation of housing propertiesDepreciation of housing properties 17,533 17,533 18,449 18,449 

Depreciation of other tangible fixed assetsDepreciation of other tangible fixed assets 1,407 1,407 999 999 

Auditors' remuneration (excluding VAT)Auditors' remuneration (excluding VAT)

 for audit services for audit services 69 69 61 61 

 for non-audit services for non-audit services

 service charges service charges 6 6 6 

 other other -   -   35 

Operating lease paymentsOperating lease payments

Vehicles, computers and equipmentVehicles, computers and equipment 26 26 31 

Land and buildingsLand and buildings 229 229 165 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

9. Surplus for the Financial Year

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially 
the same as association.the same as association.

10. Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets - Housing Properties

2020 Group 2019 Group

Disposal Disposal 
ProceedsProceeds

£’000£’000
Cost of SalesCost of Sales

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
DisposalDisposal

£’000£’000

Disposal Disposal 
ProceedsProceeds

£’000£’000
Cost of SalesCost of Sales

£’000£’000

Gain on Gain on 
DisposalDisposal

£’000£’000

Shared Ownership Staircasing 8,4168,416 (4,464) 3,9523,952 9,376 (5,158)(5,158) 4,2184,218

Asset Management & Other Sales 5,6775,677 (2,257) 3,4203,420 6,154 (2,134)(2,134) 4,0204,020

Right To Buy 320320 (121) 199199 782 (568)(568) 214214

MyChoice HomeBuyMyChoice HomeBuy 3,4143,414 (2,317) 1,0971,097 4,812 (3,332)(3,332) 1,4801,480

Open Market HomeBuy 707707 (501) 206206 2,570 (1,576)(1,576) 994994

18,53418,534 (9,660)(9,660) 8,8748,874 23,694 (12,768)(12,768) 10,92610,926

Total tax expense recognised in the group statement of comprehensive income

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

Total Tax -   -   -   -   

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

11. Taxation 
The association has charitable status and is not subject to corporation tax on surpluses arising as a result of, or earned 
in furtherance of, its charitable objectives.

The association has a number of subsidary companies, some of which do not have charitable status and which 
therefore are subject to corporation tax. For these entities, the charge for corporation tax is based on the result for the 
period and takes into account deferred taxation. Deferred taxation is provided on differences between the treatment 
of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes, unless it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

The tables below present disclosure in respect of Bushmead Homes Limited, whose results are consolidated into  
the bpha group accounts.          

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

Profit for the year after taxation - bpha group 17,370 34,12734,127

- Less: bpha Limited (16,280)(16,280) (33,480)

1,090 1,090 647

Total tax (credit)/expense -   -   -   -   

Profit excluding taxation 1,090 1,090 647 647 

Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19% 207 207 123 123 

Tax exempt revenue (8)(8) (196)(196)

Relief as a result of gift aid distribution (209)(209) (122)(122)

Total tax expense in respect of current period 10 10 195 195 

Total (credit)/tax expense -   -   -   -   
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

12. Tangible Fixed Assets

Tangible Tangible 
fixed assets fixed assets 

- housing - housing 
properties properties 

(shared (shared 
ownership)ownership)

£’000£’000

Tangible fixed Tangible fixed 
assets - housing assets - housing 

properties properties 
(general needs)(general needs)

£’000£’000

Housing Housing 
properties properties 

in course of in course of 
construction construction 

(shared (shared 
ownership)ownership)

£’000£’000

Housing Housing 
properties properties 

in course of in course of 
construction construction 

(general (general 
needs)needs)

£’000£’000

Long Long 
leaseholdleasehold

£’000£’000

Furniture and Furniture and 
equipmentequipment

£’0000£’0000
TotalTotal

£’000£’000

Cost
At 31 March 2019 158,626 158,626 997,758 25,102 25,102 52,556 52,556 1,600 1,600 9,824 9,824 1,245,466 1,245,466 

Reallocation Reallocation  5,935  5,935    (10,111)    (10,111)    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   (4,176) 

Schemes completed in the periodSchemes completed in the period 23,003 23,003 62,136 62,136 (23,003)(23,003) (62,136)(62,136)    -    -    -    - 

AdditionsAdditions 543 543    -    - 32,777 32,777 45,376 45,376 245 1,463 1,463 80,404 

Transfer to Current Asset    -    -    -    - (17,978)(17,978) --    -    -    - (17,978)

ImprovementsImprovements    -    - 14,474 14,474    -    -    -    -    -    -    - 14,474 

Interest capitalised    -    -    -    - 1,806 1,806 3,425 3,425    -    -    - 5,231 

Disposals (4,379)(4,379) (1,891)(1,891)    -    -    -    -    -    -    - (6,270)

At 31 MARCH 2020 183,728 1,062,366 18,704 39,221 1,845 11,287 1,317,151 

Depreciation
At 31 March 2019At 31 March 2019    -    - 67,004 67,004    -    -    -    - 1,253 6,658 6,658 74,915 

ReallocationReallocation    - (4,176)    -    -    -    - (4,176) 

Charge for year    -    - 17,533 17,533    -    -    -    - 81 1,326 1,326 18,940 

On disposals    -    - (464)(464)    -    -    -    -    -    -    - (464)

At 31 MARCH 2020    - 79,897    -    - 1,334 7,984 89,215 

Net book value at 
At 31 MARCH 2020 183,728 982,469 18,704 39,221 511 3,303 1,227,936 

Net book value at 

At 31 March 2019 158,626 930,754 25,102 52,556 347 3,166 1,170,551 

During the year a new fixed asset system was implemented which has prompted a review of the During the year a new fixed asset system was implemented which has prompted a review of the 
presentation of this note and has resulted in the reallocation between cost and depreciation shown presentation of this note and has resulted in the reallocation between cost and depreciation shown 
in the table above. This reallocation has had no impact on net book value. in the table above. This reallocation has had no impact on net book value. 

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

Amounts capitalised  14,473  14,725 

Routine and planned maintenance  12,082  11,028 

 26,555  25,753 

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the 
same as association.same as association.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

12. Expenditure on Improvements to Existing Properties

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Current asset work in progress  26,901  12,027  29,867  16,752 

Completed properties held for sale  16,406  16,406  6,757  6,757 

 43,307  28,433  36,624  23,509 

The cost of shared ownership properties in the course of construction is apportioned between the The cost of shared ownership properties in the course of construction is apportioned between the 
equity percentage expected to be retained by the association. The cost attributable to the percentage equity percentage expected to be retained by the association. The cost attributable to the percentage 
to be sold is included within current assets, and that expected to be retained is included in fixed assets to be sold is included within current assets, and that expected to be retained is included in fixed assets 
“Housing properties in the course of construction (shared ownership)”.“Housing properties in the course of construction (shared ownership)”.

12. Completed Properties and Work in Progress Transferred to Current Assets
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

13. Investment Properties

The valuation of investment properties is carried by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant The valuation of investment properties is carried by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant 
professional qualification (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) qualification) and has recent experience in the professional qualification (Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ (RICS) qualification) and has recent experience in the 
location and class of the investment properties being valued. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with RICS location and class of the investment properties being valued. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with RICS 
Professional Standards January 2014 (the “RICS Red Book”) published November 2013 and effective from 6 January 2014, Professional Standards January 2014 (the “RICS Red Book”) published November 2013 and effective from 6 January 2014, 
in particular in accordance with the requirements of VPS3 entitled Valuation reports. The principal components of the in particular in accordance with the requirements of VPS3 entitled Valuation reports. The principal components of the 
valuations are the use of the property, location, income received, tenant covenant, length of lease, tenure and condition  valuations are the use of the property, location, income received, tenant covenant, length of lease, tenure and condition  
of the property. The properties have been valued on an investment basis, adopting the comparable method of valuation of the property. The properties have been valued on an investment basis, adopting the comparable method of valuation 
whereby valuations have had regard to recent market transactions of similar properties. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, whereby valuations have had regard to recent market transactions of similar properties. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
the 2020 valuations are reported on the basis of ‘material uncertainty’ as defined in the RICS Red Book. The Directors the 2020 valuations are reported on the basis of ‘material uncertainty’ as defined in the RICS Red Book. The Directors 
recognise this basis of the valuation, but are confident that due to the quality of both the tenants and the properties, the recognise this basis of the valuation, but are confident that due to the quality of both the tenants and the properties, the 
approach as set out above results in the best possible estimate of the current market value of these properties.approach as set out above results in the best possible estimate of the current market value of these properties.

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Investment properties 15,633 15,633 14,770 14,770 

The reported balance and movement in the investment properties following the annual valuation was:

Opening balance 14,770 14,770 10,835 10,835 

Movement during the year 863 863 3,935 3,935 

Closing balance 15,633 15,633 14,770 14,770 

14. Trade and Other Debtors

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Accounts falling due within one year:

Rental and service charges debtors 4,706 4,706 4,216 4,216 

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,960) (2,960) (3,819) (3,819)

1,746 1,746 397 397 

Other debtors 3,301 3,301 2,951 2,924 

Prepayment and accrued income 4,827 2,649 6,257 2,825 

Amounts owed by group undertakings    - 1,337    - 2,256 

8,128 7,287 9,208 8,005 

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (1,688) (1,688) (528) (528)

6,440 5,599 8,680 7,477 

Accounts falling due after more than one year:

Loan to Gloucestershire Care Partnership Ltd 393 393 386 386 

Less: provision for bad and doubtful debts (393) (393) (386) (386)

8,186 7,345 9,077 7,874 

15. Current Asset Investments

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Mark to market cash collateral deposit 17,190 17,190 7,890 7,890 

Cash collateral on securing loan and interest 1,907 1,907 1,890 1,890 

Current asset investments 19,097 19,097 9,780 9,780 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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16. Creditors: Amounts Falling due within One Year

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Trade Creditors 2,650 2,642 1,963 1,935 

Contracts for capital works and retentions 14,617 14,509 18,235 18,129 

Accruals and deferred income 4,977 4,972 6,994 6,600 

Debt (note 19) 7,500 7,500 7,500 7,500 

Interest payable 8,150 1,890 7,969 1,710 

Rent and service charges received in advance 3,031 3,031 2,245 2,245 

Taxation and social security 90 108 175 175 

RCGF and DPF (note 18) 220 220 555 555 

Amounts due to group undertakings    - 6,260    - 7,108 

Other creditors 1,557 1,551 2,402 2,371 

42,792 42,683 48,038 48,328 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Accruals and deferred income includes £271k (2019: £373k) in respect of grants received in advance for specific purposes.Accruals and deferred income includes £271k (2019: £373k) in respect of grants received in advance for specific purposes.

Payments to CreditorsPayments to Creditors
The association’s policy is to pay purchase invoices when due.The association’s policy is to pay purchase invoices when due.

17. Creditors: Amounts Falling due After More than One Year

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Debt (note 19) 841,307 842,644 773,977 775,159 

Recycled Capital Grant Fund (note 18) 15,717 15,717 15,466 15,466 

Deferred government grant 44,171 44,171 41,038 41,038 

Grant on HomeBuy and MyChoice HomeBuy loans 22,998 22,998 24,917 24,917 

Major Repairs Fund held on behalf of -  Oxfordshire Care 
Partnership 4,570 4,570 2,268 2,268 

- Leaseholders 3,906 3,906 3,292 3,292 

Bond premium 25,449 25,449 26,112 26,112 

958,118 959,455 887,070 888,252 

18. Recycled Capital Fund (RCGF) and Disposal Proceeds Fund (DPF)

Recycled Capital Grant Fund & Disposal Proceeds FundRecycled Capital Grant Fund & Disposal Proceeds Fund
RCGF RCGF 
£’000£’000

DPF DPF 
£’000£’000

Total Total 
£’000£’000

At 1st April 15,466 555 16,021 

Grants recycled

Housing Properties 1,023 -   1,023 

MyChoice HomeBuy 1,457 -   1,457 

Open Market HomeBuy 501 -   501 

Interest Accrued 120 1 121 

Purchase/Development of Properties (2,769) (417) (3,186)

Balance at 31st March 15,798 139 15,937 

Amount falling due within 1 Year 80 139 219 

Amount falling due after more than 1 Year 15,718 -   15,718 

15,798 139 15,937 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same as association.Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same as association.
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Drawn debt

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

Breakdown of debt:

Bank and building society loans 466,500 474,500 

The Housing Finance Corporation 36,000 36,000 

Bonds 351,000 275,000 

Other loans 1,539 1,608 

855,039 787,108 

Deferred costs (6,231) (5,631)

848,808 781,477 

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Debt is repayable as follows:

Due within one year 7,500 7,500 

Due after one year and within two years 12,500 7,500 

Due after two years and within five years 37,500 37,500 

Due after more than five years 791,308 728,977 

848,808 781,477 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

19. Debt Analysis 
The Group has a policy to ensure that it has diverse funding sources and at the year end it had a mixture of secured 
and unsecured facilities, with 45% of all drawn debt through capital markets following the issuance of a £125m 
Private Placement. Bank and capital markets debt is subject to fixed rates of interest (excluding margin on the loan) 
ranging from 1.29% to 10.64% and at variable rates linked to LIBOR with all secured funding having specific charges 
on the association’s housing properties. Our syndicated bank loan facility has an amortised repayment profile and 
will be fully repaid by January 2041 with other bank and capital markets debt being repaid by January 2047.

In the capital markets the Group has raised £275m (initial £200m in 2014 and tap of £75m in 2018) by issuing its 
secured public bond through its subsidiary bpha Finance plc, which is repayable in 2044. In addition, during the year 
to 31 March 2020 the Group raised £76m (issued £125m with £49m deferred draw down) through its debut Private 
Placement issuance which was split into five tranches with maturities between 2030 and 2040. The £76m was issued 
on an unsecured basis with the deferred amount being split £42m unsecured and £7m secured.

At 31 March 2020 the Group had £76m of unsecured debt as part of its debt portfolio.

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the 
same as association.
              
Under FRS102 (s.17.32) the group is required to disclose the carrying value of property pledged as Under FRS102 (s.17.32) the group is required to disclose the carrying value of property pledged as 
security for liabilities and contractual commitments. The carrying value of this property at the end security for liabilities and contractual commitments. The carrying value of this property at the end 
of the year was £877m (2019: £849m). of the year was £877m (2019: £849m). 
              
The remaining properties not pledged as security are available to support our unsecured debt  The remaining properties not pledged as security are available to support our unsecured debt  
and the charging valuation provided by external valuers at the end of the year was £302m.and the charging valuation provided by external valuers at the end of the year was £302m.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

20. Financial Instruments 
The Association has stand-alone International Swaps & Derivatives Association (ISDA) arrangements in order to hedge 
against the long term risk of an increase in variable interest rates under its principal loan facility. As a Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Society with charitable objectives and a registered social landlord, the Association does not 
trade for profit and is regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing which has issued extensive guidelines on the use  
of derivative instruments by registered social landlords.

The Association has applied this guidance in entering into derivative transactions which include swaptions in which the 
bank counterparties have the right to enter an equal and opposite swap at various dates in the future and these are 
detailed in the table below. 

All of the interest rate swaps detailed under (i) below are hedge effective but the Association has chosen not to hedge 
account for these.

CounterpartyCounterparty
Nominal 2020 Nominal 2020 

£’000£’000
Nominal 2019 Nominal 2019 

£’000£’000

Market valuation; Market valuation; 
liability at 2020           liability at 2020           

£’000£’000

Market valuation; Market valuation; 
liability at 2019           liability at 2019           

£’000£’000
Movement 2020          Movement 2020          

£’000£’000

(i)  Interest rate swaps: bpha pays fixed,  
receives variable 120,880 120,880 120,880 61,557 61,557 51,870 9,687 9,687 

(ii)  Margin swap: bpha pays floating plus margin, 
receives floating 20,000 20,000 20,000 5,594 5,594 5,399 195 195 

(iii)  Swaptions – banks' option to enter swaps to 
exactly offset specific swaps detailed above 24,880 24,880 24,880 409 409 579 (170)(170)

Total  165,760  165,760  165,760  165,760  67,560  67,560  57,848  57,848  9,712  9,712 

The movement for the year is the change in market valuation until termination date or, 
in the case of swaps retained, until 31 March.

Reconciliation of change in value of Financial Instruments
20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Market value; liability at start of year 57,848 57,052 

Change in market value; increase /(decrease) in liability 9,712 796 

 

Market value; liability at end of year 67,560 57,848 

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially 
the same as association.



9695

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

21. Pensions
The association is an admitted member of the Bedfordshire Pension Fund (“the fund”). This is a multi-employer scheme 
with more than one participating employer, which is administered by Bedford Borough Council under the Regulations 
governing the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), and is a defined benefit scheme. The association closed 
admission of new members to the fund from 31 March 2010. At 31 March 2020 there were 80 (2019: 85) employees  
who were active members of the fund. 

The employers’ contributions to the Fund by the association for the year ended 31 March 2020 totalled £1,862k (2019: 
£1,909k) which included both a lump sum contribution together with an amount relating to current employees for 
which the employers’ contribution rate from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 was 21.1%. From 1 April 2020 the employers’ 
contribution rate will increase to 22.1% with an additional lump sum cash contribution of £556k to be made in the next 
year (estimated total contributions for 2020/21: £1,270k). 

Triennial actuarial valuations of the fund are performed by an independent, professionally qualified actuary using the 
projected unit method. The most recent formal actuarial valuation was completed as at 31 March 2019 and the next  
will be completed during 2022.

The market value of the fund assets at 31 March 2019 triennial valuation was £2,291m (2016: £1,733m) and the level  
of funding was 80.5% (2016: 70.9%). The main actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were:

Financial Assumptions
The main financial assumptions used by the actuary in assessing liabilities on a basis consistent with FRS 102 were:

20202020
% per annum% per annum

20192019
% per annum% per annum

Discount Rate 2.4% 2.4%

Pension Increases 1.7% 2.4%

Salary Increases 2.7% 2.7%

Mortality Assumptions
The post retirement mortality assumption adopted for all calculations is based on Club Vita mortality analysis. These 
base tables are then projected using the CMI_2018 Model, allowing for a long-term rate of improvement of 1.25% per 
annum, smoothing parameter of 7.5 and an addition to improvements of 0.5% per annum.

Based on these assumptions, the assumed life expectations from age 65 are: 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Males 2020Males 2020 Males 2019Males 2019 Female 2020Female 2020 Female 2019Female 2019

Retiring today 22.2 years22.2 years 20.7 years 24.3 years24.3 years 23.2 years

Retiring in 20 years 23.4 years23.4 years 21.7 years 26.1 years26.1 years 24.7 years

Sensitivity Analysis
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below: 

Change in assumptions at 31 March 2020: £’000£’000 £’000£’000 £’000£’000

Adjustment to discount rate +0.1% 0.0%0.0% -0.1%

Present Value of Obligation  66,771  68,172  68,172 69,604 

Projected Service Cost  970  998  998 1,027 

Adjustment to long term salary increase +0.1% 0.0%0.0% -0.1%

Present Value of Obligation  68,313  68,172  68,172 68,033 

Projected Service Cost  998  998  998 998 

Adjustment to long term salary increase +0.1% 0.0%0.0% -0.1%

Present Value of Obligation  69,471  68,172  68,172 66,900 

Projected Service Cost  1,026  998  998 970 

Adjustments to life expectancy assumptions +1 Year NoneNone -1 Year

Present Value of Obligation  70,724  68,172  68,172 65,715 

Projected Service Cost  1,030  998  998 967 

Actual Return on Plan Assets:
20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Interest income on plan assets 1,130 1,185 

(Loss) / return on plan assets less interest (4,014) 1,596 

Actual (loss) / return on plan assets (2,884) 2,781 

20192019
% per annum% per annum

20162016
% per annum% per annum

Discount rate 4.6% 4.1%

CPI inflation 2.6% 2.1%

Salary increases 3.6% 2.4%
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Major Categories of Plan Assets with Estimated Values and as a Percentage of Total Plan Assets: 
The expected rates of return for all fund assets are set equal to the discount rate for both the current and prior year  
as required under FRS 102. 

20202020
AssetsAssets
 £’000 £’000

20202020
AssetsAssets

%0%0

20192019
AssetsAssets
 £’000 £’000

20192019
AssetsAssets

%%

Equities 28,793 68% 32,152 69%

Bonds 7,431 17% 7,595 16%

Property 4,884 11% 4,797 10%

Cash 1,733 4% 2,212 5%

Total 42,841 100% 46,756 100%

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

2020 2020 
£’000£’000

2019 2019 
£’000£’000

2018 2018 
£’000£’000

2017 2017 
£’000£’000

2016 2016 
£’000£’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation (68,172)(68,172) (73,593) (70,972)(70,972) (70,016) (61,007)

Fair value of scheme assets 42,841 42,841 46,756 43,749 43,749 42,420 37,080 

Deficit on scheme (25,331)(25,331) (26,837)(26,837) (27,223)(27,223) (27,596) (23,927)

Experience gains on plan liabilities 1,787 1,787 -   -   -   1,412 623 

Experience (losses) / gains on plan assets (4,014)(4,014) 1,596 (793)(793) 3,483 (1,253)(1,253)

Amounts for the Current and Previous Four Years are as Follows: 

Analysis of the Amount Charged to The Statement of Comprehensive Income:
20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Current service cost 1,270 1,348 

Past service cost (McCloud) 390 -

Net interest 622 710 

Administration expenses 45 76 

Total operating charge 2,327 2,134 

Analysis of net interest charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income:
20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Expected return on pension scheme assets (1,130) (1,185)

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 1,752 1,895 

Net interest charge 622 710 

Analysis of the Amount Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income:

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

(Loss) / Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest (4,014) 1,596 

Changes in financial and other assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities 5,985 (985)

Actuarial gains / (losses) recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 1,971 611 

Movement in Deficit During the Year

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Association’s share of scheme deficit at beginning of year (26,837) (27,223)

Movement in year:

Current service cost (1,660) (1,348)

Administration Expenses (45) (76)

Employer contributions 1,862 1,909 

Other finance costs (622) (710)

Actuarial gains 1,971 611 

Association’s share of scheme deficit at end of year (25,331) (26,837)

Changes in Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation are as Follows:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Opening defined benefit obligation 73,593 70,972 

Current service cost 1,238 1,348 

Past service cost (including curtailments) 422 -   

Interest cost 1,752 1,895 

Contributions by members 239 266 

Actuarial (gains)/losses (7,620) 985 

Estimated benefits paid (1,452) (1,873)

Closing defined benefit obligation 68,172 73,593 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Changes in the Fair Value of Plan Assets are as Follows:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Opening fair value of plan assets 46,756 43,749 

Expected return on assets 1,130 1,185 

Contributions by members 239 266 

Contributions by employer 1,862 1,909 

Administration Expenses (45) (76)

Actuarial (losses)/gains (5,649) 1,596 

Benefits paid (1,452) (1,873)

Closing fair value of plan assets 42,841 46,756 

2020 2020 
£’000£’000

2019 2019 
£’000£’000

2018 2018 
£’000£’000

2017 2017 
£’000£’000

2016 2016 
£’000£’000

Actuarial (losses) / gains on plan assets (4,014)(4,014) 1,596 (793) 3,483 (1,253)

Experience gains and (losses) on share  
of scheme liabilities: 1,787 1,787 -   -   -   1,412 623 623 

Total amount recognised in other  
comprehensive income 1,971 1,971 611 643 643 (3,423) 1,631 1,631 

History of Experience Gains and Losses 

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially 
the same as association.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

22. Called Up Share Capital
Each non-executive member of the Board other than the local authority nominated member, together with 
Bedfordshire Borough Council, holds one ordinary share of £1 in the association.

The shares provide members with the right to vote at general meetings, but do not provide any rights to dividends  
or distribution on winding up. Shares are cancelled when the holder ceases to be a qualifying member of the Board.

20202020
GroupGroup

££

20192019
GroupGroup

££

Allotted, issued and fully paid ordinary shares 7 6

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially 
the same as association.

23. Reserves
GroupGroup

Revenue ReserveRevenue Reserve
£’000£’000

AssociationAssociation
Revenue ReserveRevenue Reserve

£’000£’000

At 1 April 2019 271,493 270,228 

Surplus for yearSurplus for year 18,015 17,556 

Other comprehensive income for the yearOther comprehensive income for the year 1,971 1,971 

At 31 March 2020 291,479 289,755 

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially 
the same as association.

24. Financial Commitments
GroupGroup
20202020
£’000£’000

GroupGroup
20192019

£’000£’000

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has 

not been provided for in the financial statements 101,373 99,862 

Capital expenditure that has been authorised by the 

Board but has not yet been contracted for 5,880 50,754 

The above commitments will be financed primarily through borrowings, under existing loan arrangements or from 
access to debt capital markets, together with social housing grant and sale of shared ownership properties.
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24. Financial Commitments (continued)
Based on the group funding strategy, the contracted capital commitments are planned to be funded by:

Group Funding Group Funding 
PlanPlan

20202020
£m£m

Group Funding Group Funding 
PlanPlan
20192019
£m£m

Recycled capital grant funding - 8 

Surpluses 58 68 

Loans 43 24 

101 100 

Operating leases
At 31 March 2020, the association had non-cancellable operating lease rentals payable as follows:

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

GroupGroup
20202020
£’000£’000

GroupGroup
20192019

£’000£’000

Less than one year 254 9 

Between one and five years 599 1,047 

More than five years    -    - 

853 1,056 

During the year £255k was recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account in respect of operating 
leases (2019: £217k).

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same 
as association.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

25. Grant Movement and Contingent Liability

GroupGroup
Reserve Amount Reserve Amount 

£’000£’000

GroupGroup
Creditor Amount Creditor Amount 

£’000£’000

Group
Total Amount 

£’000

At 31 March 2018 (273,587) (37,825) (311,412)

Additions to grant for work in progress under the accrual model -   (3,469) (3,469)

Grant recycled 1,189 -   1,189 

Grant amortised (256) 256 -   

At 31 March 2019 (272,654) (41,038) (313,692)

Additions to grant for work in progress under the accrual model -   (3,401) (3,401)

Grant recycled 1,023 -   1,023 

Grant amortised (268) 268 -   

At 31 March 2020 (271,899) (44,171) (316,070)

This excludes grant relating to HomeBuy and MyChoice HomeBuy loans (refer to note 17)

As at 31 March 2020, grant which has been written off to reserves represents a contingent liability of £271.9m  
(2019: £272.7m). This contingent liability will be realised if the assets to which the written off grant relates are disposed. 

Grant amortised of £268k (2019: £256k) is included under other income (see note 3) and forms part of turnover 
reported for the group.

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the same  
as association.
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26. Reconciliation of Net Cashflow to Movement in Net Debt

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Increase/(decrease) in cash 24,048 24,112 (3,377) (3,719)

Cash inflow from decrease/(increase) in liquid resources 9,317 9,318 (350) (350)

Cash inflow from (increase) in debt and lease finance and set up fees (67,931) (67,931) (42,432) (42,435)

(Increase) in net debt from cashflows (34,566) (34,501) (46,159) (46,504)

Non-cashflow items 600 445 (185) (185)

Total changes in net debt for the period (33,966) (34,056) (46,344) (46,689)

Net debt brought forward at 1 April (755,078) (758,486) (708,783) (711,797)

Net debt at 31 March (789,044) (792,542) (755,127) (758,486)

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

27. Analysis of Net Debt

01 April 201901 April 2019
£’0000£’0000

CashflowCashflow
£’000£’000

Non-cashflow Non-cashflow 
itemsitems

£’0000£’0000
31 March 202031 March 2020

£’000£’000

Loans (787,108) (67,931) -   (855,039)

Loan set up fees 5,631 -   600 6,231 

Debt (781,477) (67,931) 600 (848,808)

Cash at bank and in hand 16,619 24,048 -   40,667 

Fixed and current asset investments 9,780 9,317 -   19,097 

Net debt (755,078) (34,566) 600 (789,044)

Association information has not been separately disclosed within this note as group is materially the 
same as association.

28. Post balance sheet events
There have been no material post balance sheet events.

29. Investment in Subsidiaries
The investments in the group and association comprise of investments in fellow group companies, 
which are eliminated on consolidation:

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Bushmead Homes Limited -   18,500 -   18,500 

Bpha Finance Plc -   13 -   13 

-   18,513 -   18,513 

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

Bushmead Homes Limited 
Bushmead Homes Limited was a subsidiary of the association at the year end and is limited by shares. bpha Limited 
has the right to appoint members to the board of the subsidiary and thereby exercise control over it. bpha Limited 
owns all of the issued share capital.

Bushmead Homes Limited’s principal activity is property development for open market sale.

The association statement of comprehensive income includes the following transactions between the association  
and Bushmead Homes Limited:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Income from central services 60 115 

Income from central services represents a reallocation of cost incurred by fellow group companies and is calculated 
on a cost of provision basis.

The association statement of financial position includes the following transactions between the association and  
Bushmead Homes Limited:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Purchase of completed affordable properties 1,087 -

bpha Finance Plc
bpha Finance plc is a special purpose vehicle for the purpose of issuing asset backed securities and on-lending the 
proceeds to bpha Limited. bpha Finance plc has issued 50,000 ordinary shares of £1 each, all of which are paid up to 
25 pence. bpha Limited owns all of the issued share capital. 
  
The association’s statement of comprehensive income includes the following transactions between the association 
and bpha Finance plc:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Interest income 13,185 11,339 
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The Accounts Include the Following Transactions Between the Association and bpha Finance Plc:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Bond premium and interest - bpha Finance plc 13,185 11,339 

Bond premium and interest - Association (13,185) (11,339)

-   -   

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

The Amounts due From/(to) bpha Finance plc at the Year End are:

20202020
£’000£’000

20192019
£’000£’000

Amounts due for investment in bpha Finance plc (13) (13)

(13) (13)

CPLhomes Management Services Limited
CPLhomes Management Services Limited was a majority owned subsidiary that provided housing management 
services to properties in the Cambridge area. 
 
Shortly following the financial year ended 31 March 2017, CPLhomes Management Services Limited ceased to manage 
the properties owned by Flagship previously held on its management portfolio. In addition, the board of CPLhomes 
Management Services Limited took the business decision that bpha Limited should take over direct management of 
its properties. This resulted in CPLhomes Management Services Limited having no managed properties on its portfolio 
and was therefore not trading throughout years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020. CPLhomes Management 
Services Limited is now in the process of being wound up.

Cambridgeshire Partnerships Limited
During the financial year ended 31 March 2008 the Social Housing Regulator selected a bid from Cambridgeshire 
Partnerships Limited, led by bpha and incorporating other housing association partners, to deliver the vision of the 
Cambridge Challenge. 
 
Cambridgeshire Partnerships Limited, which is an associated company in which bpha has a 25% stake, is now dormant 
but is retained for contractual reasons relating to the Cambridge Challenge.

Pension Schemes
The Association is an admitted member of the Bedfordshire Pension Fund (“the fund”). This is a multi-employer scheme 
with more than one participating employer, which is administered by Bedford Borough Council under the Regulations 
governing the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), and is a defined benefit scheme. See Note 21 for detailed 
information on this scheme.

Since April 2010 a Defined Contribution Group Personal Pension Plan operated by Royal London has been available 
to all new employees. From April 2014 the scheme has been extended to meet our Auto Enrolment obligations 
whereby all employees meeting statutory requirements are enrolled into the scheme. The scheme is operated  
on a Salary Exchange basis.

Each scheme member has a separate pension ‘pot’ which is normally managed under the default pensions choice 
recommended by the Pension Provider. The member does however have the option to choose their own investment 
plan. All arrangements regarding this are carried out directly between the scheme member and pension provider.
Pension costs are dependent upon the contribution rate chosen by employees. Employer contributions are double 
employee contributions up to a maximum of 5% (10% employer’s), this is extended to 6% and 12% for members of the 
Executive Leadership Team.

30. Joint Arrangements
The association holds 50% of the shares in each of two joint arrangement companies, The Oxfordshire Care Partnership 
(OCP) and The Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP). The joint ventures are managed through a board of trustees on 
which the association and its partner, The Orders of St John Care Trust (OSJCT), are equally represented.

OCP’s and GCP’s principal activities are the provision of care to elderly people through care homes. OCP and 
GCP provide housing, accommodation, nursing or other assistance to people who are elderly or disabled and the 
provision of associated facilities and amenities for such people. The joint arrangements have been structured 
such that the association owns the care homes and receives rents on these, and that OSJCT are the care home 
operator and takes the financial and other risks associated with the operation. If the profits OSJCT attains from the 
operations exceed an agreed level then the excess will be retained by OCP and GCP but if the operations are loss 
making, the loss is sustained by OSJCT and therefore, other than a small contribution to certain fixed costs, OCP 
and GCP would not suffer any loss.

Any surplus from the joint arrangement companies shall be applied solely towards the promotion of charitable 
objects as determined by the trustees. No profits by way of dividends will be distributed to the members of the 
companies.

bpha group holds a major repairs fund on behalf of OCP to cover the costs of repairs per agreement with OCP  
(see note 17).

Under FRS102 section 15 ‘Investment in Joint Ventures’, the Association is required to prepare additional information 
including, on an equity accounting basis, its share of the results of the joint arrangement companies for the period to 
31 March 2020 and the net assets as at 31 March 2020. However, since the association has no rights to the net profits 
or assets of the companies and has no rights to dividends, other returns or to assets in the event of being wound up, 
the association considers that it has no equity interest in the ventures and accordingly consolidates a nil interest.

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020
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31. Investment in Associates
bpha Limited (via Bushmead Homes Limited) has a 25% interest in Gog Magog Partnership LLP, whose principal activity 
is the development of residential accommodation for private sale and of affordable residential accommodation for sale 
to registered providers.

Associates are accounted for in accordance with FRS102 Section 14 ‘Investments in Associates’ in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method. Within the subsidiary undertaking individual financial statements in 
which the investment is held, this is held as a fixed or current asset investment shown at cost less amounts written off.

bpha Limited is required to prepare additional information including its share of the associate’s turnover for the 
period to 31 March 2020 and the its share of the assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2020:

Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2020

20202020
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20202020
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

20192019
GroupGroup
£’000£’000

20192019
AssociationAssociation

£’000£’000

Share of turnover of associates 6,022    - 5,986    - 

Share of cost of sales of associates (4,943)    - (5,126)    - 

1,079    - 860    - 

Share of assets 1,920    - 6,165    - 

Share of liabilities (49)    - (3,720)    - 

Share of net assets 1,871    - 2,445    - 

Investment as at 01 April 632    - 3,107    - 

Capital issued in the year    -    -    -    - 

Capital returned in the year (632)    - (2,475)    - 

Investment as at 31 March    -    - 632    - 

External Auditor
KPMG LLP

Internal Auditor 
BDO LLP 

Principal Solicitors
Blake Morgan LLP
Capsticks Solicitors LLP 
Clarke Wilmott LLP
Devonshires Solicitors LLP 
Pennington Manches Cooper LLP
Trowers & Hamlins LLP
Wentworth Sherwood LLP

Valuers 
Jones Lang LaSalle 
Savills (UK) Ltd

Bankers 
HSBC Bank plc

Company advisers
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20172017
£’m£’m

20182018
£’m£’m

20192019
£’m£’m

20202020
£’m£’m

Turnover
Core operating business 94.6 95.9 98.7 103.0

Development & Sales Business 41.7 46.3 49.5 41.8

136.3 142.2 148.2 144.8

Operating surplus
Core operating business 44.5 44.5 41.2 41.9

Development & Sales Business 18.1 22.1 22.8 18.0

Fair value adjustments on investment properties 0.5 (2.5) 3.9 0.9

Pension adjustments (McCloud) (0.4)

63.1 64.1 67.9 60.4

Operating surplus as a % of turnover 46.3% 45.1% 45.8% 41.7%

Net interest (33.0) (31.5) (33.0) (32.7)

Underlying surplus for the year 30.1 32.6 34.9 27.7

Gains/(losses) re financial instruments and termination of hedging agreements (1.9) 9.1 (0.8) (9.5)

Surplus before tax 28.2 41.7 34.1 18.2

Repairs and maintenance 11.4 10.1 11.0 12.1

Capitalised spending on improvements to housing properties 11.4 10.8 14.7 14.5

Total spending on repairing and maintaining our housing properties 22.8 20.9 25.7 26.6

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, major repairs 
included (EBITDA MRI) 59.9 61.7 58.3 55.4

EBITDA MRI as a percentage of interest payable and similar charges 174% 177% 156% 144%

Group Statement of comprehensive income

FOUR YEAR SUMMARY 
KEY FIGURES

Turnover includes the capital receipts from disposal of final assets. The figures for 2016/17 have been adjusted to 
exclude turnover and operating surplus on sales to other Housing Associations.

20172017
£’m£’m

20182018
£’m£’m

20192019
£’m£’m

20202020
£’m£’m

Group cash flow
Net cash from operating activities 65.5 57.1 60.0 58.7

Net interest paid (34.9) (33.2) (34.8) (38.0)

Operating cash flow net of interest 30.6 23.9 25.2 20.7

Improvements to housing properties (11.4) (11.8) (14.1) (14.1)

Other items 2.7 4.1 (0.8) (0.3)

Operating cash flow net of interest & capex & other 21.9 16.2 10.3 6.3

Proceeds from asset sales 21.0 24.9 23.7 18.5

First tranche shared ownership sales 20.8 21.4 25.8 23.3

Operating and sales cash flow 63.7 62.5 59.8 48.1

Development spend (69.7) (79.7) (122.0) (82.7)

Net movements in borrowings and deposits 28.9 (7.0) 58.8 58.6

Net cash flow after development activities 22.9 (24.2) (3.4) 24.0

Group Statement of financial position

20172017
£’m£’m

20182018
£’m£’m

20192019
£’m£’m

20202020
£’m£’m

Group statement of financial position
Housing fixed assets 1,008.3 1,073.4 1,167.4 1,224.6

Other assets less current liabilities 109.5 75.7 75.8 117.9

Total assets less current liabilities 1,117.8 1,149.1 1,243.2 1,342.5

Debt (due over one year) 737.8 731.4 774.0 848.8

Other long term liabilities 185.9 180.9 197.7 202.2

Total long term liabilities 923.7 912.3 971.7 1,051.0

Reserves: total 194.1 236.8 271.5 291.5

Total long term funding and reserves 1,117.8 1,149.1 1,243.2 1,342.5

Group cash flow

These summaries do not form part of the audited financial statements.
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